
9:00 a.m. 

October 23, 2020 

   Smith-Brown Student Union 
    Cotillion Ball Room 

Baton Rouge, LA





ACADEMIC AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
Friday, October 23, 2020 

Smith-Brown Student Union 
Cotillion Ball Room 

Baton Rouge, Louisiana 
9:00 a.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
  

2. Invocation / Pledge of Allegiance    
 

3. Roll Call  
 

4. Adoption of the Agenda   
 

5. Public Comments 
        

6. Action Item(s): 
 
A.  Consideration of Appeal for Denial of Tenure- Dr. Keytunda Ogunkoya 
(SUBR)** (**denotes executive session may be required) 

 
7. Informational Item(s): 

 
A. Update on Online Learning Degree Programs  
      1. Southern University at Baton Rouge 
 2. Southern University at New Orleans 
 3. Southern University at Shreveport 
 4. Southern University Law Center  
 
B.  Update on Executive Ph.D. Program in Public Policy 
  

8. Other Business 
 

9. Adjournment 
 
 

                  MEMBERS 
Dr. Curman L. Gaines - Chair, Dr. Leon Tarver II – Vice-Chair, 

Dr. Leroy Davis, Rev Samuel C. Tolbert, Mr. Sam Gilliam, Mr. John Barthelemy 
            Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge-- Ex Officio



1 
 

Southern University and A&M College  

Fall 2020 Enrollment Report 

The Office of E-Learning is responsible for the administration of Southern University Online.  
Considering the objective for online education established by the Imagine 20K Strategic Plan 
(the “Plan”), a two-pronged approach has been adopted to 1) build capacity and improve 
operations, and 2) increase the number of students and online degree programs.  The Plan 
outlines 24 strategies that will lead to achievement of the goal.  Appendix A outlines the 
strategies and their status.  While all are important, the strategies below are mission critical to 
meet the goal:  
 

• Strategy I.3.1: Build, scale, and sustain new online programs and certificates. 
• Strategy I.3.4: Develop a detailed enrollment plan of action for online education. 

 

Current Online Programs 

 

Program Inventory   

The current degree inventory and enrollments per degree programs are listed below in Tables 1 
and 2 below. Enrollment is stable across degree programs. The BS in Computer Science has no 
students currently enrolled. The enrollment in the degree programs is evenly dispersed. There are 
no low enrollment degree programs. 
 

Undergraduate Graduate 

• BS Criminal Justice 
• BS Psychology 
• Bachelor of Interdisciplinary Studies 
• BS Computer Science * 

• Master of Business Administration 
• Executive Master of Public 

Administration 
• Executive Master of Criminal Justice 
• Certificate in Supply Chain 

Management 

 

Undergraduate Degree Programs Pending for Fall 2021 

• RN to BSN (preparing Prospectus for SACSCOC) 
• Hospitality and Food Industry Leadership (Pending decision from the Board of 

Regents) 
Table 1 Southern University Online Degree Inventory 
 

 



2 
 

 
Table 2 SU Online Fall 2020 Student Count by Major 
 

 

Enrollment, Retention, and Graduation 

 
Enrollment Growth 

There has been overall growth since inception of the online degree programs in Fall 2013.  In the 
years since the implementation of the Plan, Table 3 illustrates the actual increase from program 
inception to Fall 2020.  
   

• Fall 2013 to Fall 2020 increased by 133.69% 
• Fall 2018 to Fall 2019 increased by 32.43% 
• Fall 2019 to Fall 2020 increased by 9.69% 

 

 
Table 3 Southern University Online Enrollment Trends Fall 2013 – Fall 2020 
 

36 36

43

29

1

36
33

0

13

25

38

50

BUSN CRJU EMCJ ISIO MAPH PADM PSY2

Fall 2020 Student Count by Major

0

125

250

375

500

625

F 13 F 14 F 15 F 16 F 17 F 18 F 19 F 20

Actual Expected



3 
 

Tables 4 and 5 below detail the count of students by type for Fall 2019 and Fall 2020. These 
reports give an indication where there are markets for growth based on existing enrollment 
trends.   
 

 
Table 4 Fall 2020 Count by Student Type 
 
 

 
Table 5 Fall 2019 Count of Student Type 
 

Retention 

Our focus on improved student services is helping our retention rates. Adult students need 
support and engagement.  Our current retention rates reflect the level of care and attention in this 
area. The dedicated online program coordinators provide personalized and engaged student 
support to students. A coordinated effort between the Office of E-Learning, program 
coordinators and the departments to develop and publish Curriculum Plans also facilitate 
students’ early decisions regarding school selection.   Curriculum planning also impacts retention 
and graduation.  The newly developed curriculum plans provide for better cost controls, revenue 
generation and revenue projections.   
 

11

50

5

6

66

76

0 20 40 60 80

T-Transfer Student

R-Readmit Student

N-New First Time Freshman

I-Second Degree Student

G-New to GR Program

C-Continuing Student

Fall 2020 Count of Student Type

14

57

2

1

3

57

61

0 18 35 53 70

T-Transfer Student

R-Readmit Student

N-New First Time Freshman

J-Early Start Dual Enrollment

I-Second Degree Student

G-New to GR Program

C-Continuing Student

Fall 2019 Count of Student Type



4 
 

Challenges to Program and Enrollment Growth, and Sustainability 

 
New Program Development 

The timeline for onboarding time is generally 12-18 months. We have streamlined the process to 
reduce the onboarding time.  In addition, discussions are underway to position the University to 
bear the costs of new programs, including new faculty and special technologies.  Discussions and 
planning are underway for the new degree and certificate programs in the Table 6.  
 

 

Proposed New Programs 

Program Level/Degree Year 

Speech Language Pathology  Certificate Fall 2021 
Speech Language Pathology  BS Spring 2023 
Speech Language Pathology Post Baccalaureate Spring 2022 
Speech Language Pathology Post Baccalaureate Fall 2022 
Electrical Engineering Solar Energy  Certificate Fall 2021 
Business Administration 2+3 BS to MBA Fall 2023 
Social Work 2+3 (SUBR and SUNO) BS to MSW Fall 2023 
Multi-disciplinary Project Management  Certificate Fall 2021 

Table 6 Proposed New Programs 
 

Financial Investment   

Given the dramatic increase in expected enrollment, the University is developing strategies to 
meet the capital investment needs for growth of the online program.  Without an investment that 
is commensurate with the projected annual goals, it will be extremely difficult to achieve 20K in 
2030. For example, in Fall 2020 according to the Strategic Plan, online enrollment comprised 7% 
of total headcount, but in 2030 it is projected to be 40%.  Considering the projected annual 
enrollment increases, it is critical that we make significant annual investments to cover the cost 
of services, new programs and the cost of student acquisition. The recommendations section 
offers suggestions for addressing the funding.  
 
Access and Opportunity 
As indicated in Table 7, in Fall 2020 86% of the SU Online students live in Louisiana.  This is 
consistent with the national search indicating that students generally choose a school within 90 
miles of home.  For Southern University, this presents a particular problem. Of the 623 U.S. 
cities and “Census designated places” with populations of 65,000 or more, the National Digital 
Inclusion Association’s (NDIA) 2018 American Community Survey One Year Estimates, ranked 
four Louisiana locations in the top 100 least connected cities in the country. A total of seven are 
in the top 200 least connected cities and eight are in the top 50% of least connected cities (See 
Table 8). Given this lack of connectivity, the Southern University marketing and recruitment 
must be expanded regionally and nationally.  
 

 



5 
 

 
Table 7 Fall 2020 Student Count by State 
 
 

 
Table 8 NDIA Louisiana Data 

 

Plans for Growth 

To increase the number of programs and grow the enrollment, the following activities need to be 
undertaken:  
 

New Programs 

• BoR- establish programs that are unduplicated and have labor market demand  
• Work with the campus Program Prioritization Committee to develop at least two new 

programs each year (see table above)  
• Develop partnerships with community colleges to create AA to Masters’ degree pathways 

(ex. 2+3 Associates to MSW) 
• Develop micro-credential and certificate programs with pathways to graduate degrees 

 
 
 

Increase Enrollment 

● Expand channels of marketing  

1 4 1 1 2 2 1

186

1 3 1
10

1
0

50

100

150

200

AL CA CO FL FR GA HI LA MD MS TN TX VA

Fall 2020 Student Count by State



6 
 

● Expand recruitment regionally and nationally based on market analysis  
● Allocate adequate resources for the students’ cost of acquisition 
● Improve student support service to meet adult students’ engagement needs 

 
 
Recommendations 

 

To meet the strategic goals for online enrollment, the University must make a significant 
financial commitment. The following are recommendations:  
 

▪ Invest resources to sustain marketing and recruitment for the next four years.  
▪ Approve a Distance Learning Course Fee to cover the cost of academic support, student 

support, and other associated costs.  
▪ Reinvest a portion of earned revenue annually.  
▪ Invest an amount adequate to fund faculty for new degree programs. 

  



7 
 

Appendix A 

Goal I: Commitment to Student Access and Affordability 

 

Objective I.3: 
To increase 100% Online Enrollment by 5,305% from baseline 148 in Fall 2017 to 8,000 in Fall 
2030. 
 

o Key Performance Indicator: Total number of students enrolled in 100% Online 
programs 

✓ Strategy I.3.1: Build, scale, and sustain new online programs and certificates. 
✓ Strategy I.3.3: Target marketing to special populations –Professionals in Specific 

Industries. 
✓ Strategy I.3.4: Develop a detailed enrollment plan of action for online education. 
✓ Strategy I.3.5: Identify a campus leader for online education. 
✓ Strategy I.3.7: Collaborate with the Office of the Registrar to remove barriers for online 

students when completing the registration process. 
✓ Strategy I.3.8: Provide guidance for training topics and opportunities concerning 

instructional technology and sound pedagogy. 
✓ Strategy I.3.9: Scale resources - online faculty, students, technology, and staff support - 

to meet the growing needs of online courses and programs. 
✓ Strategy I.3.10: Provide initial and continuous training opportunities for online faculty. 
✓ Strategy I.3.11: Evaluate the current online course rubric and revise as necessary 

according to best practices. 
✓ Strategy I.3.13: Work with faculty and departments to convert courses and programs to 

100% online. 
✓ Strategy I.3.14: Outline additional budget requirements needed by departments and 

support units as courses and programs are converted to an online platform. 
✓ Strategy I.3.15: Identify and convert courses that can be used across multiple degrees 

and programs. 
✓ Strategy I.3.16: Evaluate current policies and plans for online learning. 
✓ Strategy I.3.17: Continuously assess all online courses and programs. 
❖ Strategy I.3.19: Provide equitable, engaging, and comprehensive student support for 

online learners. 
❖ Strategy I.3.20: Create opportunities for online learners to become involved in campus 

activities. 
❖ Strategy I.3.23: Collaborate with specific Student Affairs entities to offer workshops, 

career fairs, and student organization memberships for online learners. 
❖ Strategy I.3.24: Strengthen the online presence in the Student Government Association 

and offer voting opportunities for online students. 
 

➢ Strategy I.3.2: Target marketing to special populations – Military Personnel. 



8 
 

➢ Strategy I.3.6: Establish a dynamic and efficient digital marketing plan for recruiting 
students to online programs and courses to include the use of digital advertising, email 
marketing, social media, blogging, and promotional videos. 

➢ Strategy I.3.12: Identify programs where at least 50% of their major plan of study is 
currently being offered online. Once these programs are identified, approach department 
chairs/directors about offering a fully online degree option in addition to the face-to-face 
degree. 

➢ Strategy I.3.18: Provide equitable, engaging, and comprehensive academic support for 
online learners.  

➢ Strategy I.3.21: Initiate peer mentoring for online learners. 
➢ Strategy I.3.22: Increase availability of online tutoring in online courses. 
 
 
Key 
➢ Ongoing and focus areas for 2020-2021 
❖ Need to be reevaluated because of fee model 
✓ Completed or significantly engaged in2019-2020 

  



9 
 

Appendix B 

Office of E-Learning Organization Chart for SU Online 

 

 

 

E-
Le

ar
n

in
g 

D
ir

ec
to

r 

 

Instructional Designer 

 

 
Admissions Coordinator 

Enrollment Data Manager 

Academic Advisor 

Faculty Liaison 

Online Program Coordinator (3) 

Financial Aid Officer** 



Southern University 
and A&M College

Online Enrollment Report
Fall 2020



Strategic Goals
Strategy 1. 3.1: Build, scale, and sustain new online 
programs and certificates.

Strategy 1.3.4: Develop a detailed enrollment plan 
of action for online education.

Goal 1 
Commitment to Student 
Access and Affordability

Objective 1.3:
Increase 100% Online 
Enrollment



E-Learning Functional Res pons ibilities

Administration

Integration

Compliance

Innovation

Finance

Faculty Students

Recruitment

Retention

Training/Support

Compensation

Recruitment

Retention

Support

Graduation

Programming

Credentials

Degrees

Pathways

Financial 



Operations Model
Non-Integrated

 Develop Office Staff

 Scale to projected 
student capacity

 Add staff

 Add services

 Improve  outcomes

 Improve retention

 Increase enrollment



Academic 
Programs

Undergraduate
• BS Criminal Justice
• BS Psychology
• Bachelor of Interdisciplinary Studies
• BS Computer Science *

Graduate
• Master of Business Administration
• Executive Master of Public Administration
• Executive Master of Criminal Justice
• Certificate in Supply Chain Management



Academic 
Programs

Pending Fall 2021-Spring
• RN to BSN (SACSCOC)
• Hospitality and Food Industry Leadership (BoR)

Proposed for Spring 2022 and Fall 2022
• Speech Pathology (3)
• Business Administration 2+3
• Social Work 2+3 (SUBR and SUNO Collaboration)



Enrollment Trends 2013-2020

F 13 F 14 F 15 F 16 F 17 F 18 F 19 F 20
Actual 92 125 110 100 149 148 196 215
Expected 140 250 500

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Actual Expected

2013-2020 133.69% Inc.
2018-2019   32.43% Inc.
2019-2020     9.69% Inc.



Fall 2020 Enrollment Demographics

76

66

6

5

50

11

0 20 40 60 80

C-Continuing Student

G-New to GR Program

I-Second Degree Student

N-New First Time Freshman

R-Readmit Student

T-Transfer Student

Fall 2020 Count of Type

36 36

43

29

1

36
33

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

BUSN CRJU EMCJ ISIO MAPH PADM PSY2

Fall 2020 Count of Major



Marketing 

Recruitment

Retention

• Free
• Virtual/Digital
• AwarenessMarketing

• Virtual events 
• Inquiry leads
• Direct email

Recruitment

• Advisement
• Academic Support
• Student Support
• Curriculum planning

Retention



Challenges 

Program and Enrollment Growth 
& 

Sustainability

2020 and Beyond

● New Program Development

○ Prioritization, demand, unduplicated

● Investment Commitment

○ New  program costs

○ Comprehensive marketing strategy

○ Enhance workflow processes

○ Student support staff

● Enrollment Projections

○ Louisiana access  gaps – LA ACT 16



Plans for Growth

New Programs
● Es tablish credentia ls  and certificate programs  that lead to graduate 

Develop partnerships  with community colleges  to create accelera ted AA to 
Mas ters  degree pathways  (ex. 2+3 Associa tes  to MSW)

Increase Enrollment
● Expand and divers ify channels  of marketing
● Expand recruitment regionally and nationally based on market analys is  
● Focus  on graduate, trans fers  and “s top-out” s tudents



Recommendations

 Increas e inves tment

 Dis tance Learning cours e fee
 Reinves t % of earned revenue 
 Inves t in faculty for new 

programs



Page | 1  

 

Southern University  
at New Orleans 

 
Online Strategic Plan 

 



Page | 2  

 

 

 

 

October 8, 2020 

 

Dear Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors and President-Chancellor Belton: 

I am pleased to present the Strategic Plan for Online Programs for Southern University at New 
Orleans (SUNO). This plan will serve as a guidepost for development of an exciting new frontier 
for SUNO. By implementing this plan, SUNO will reach new heights and expand our academic 
footprint to a much broader extent than it is today. While we are under no illusion that this will be 
easy, we know that the venture is worthwhile and will lead to an even brighter future. 

Thank you for the opportunity to present this bold new plan. I look forward to engaging the entire 
community of stakeholders in a vibrant discussion on the details of this ambitious plan and what 
it means for our institution. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
James H. Ammons, Jr., PhD 
Interim Chancellor at SUNO 
  



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 1  

 

1 

 

SUNO Online:  The Way Forward 
Overview 

Southern University at New Orleans (SUNO) currently has three approved online 
programs; however, the implementation of these programs to date has been very limited. The 
current portfolio of online programs consists of Museum Studies (MA), General Studies (BS), 
and Criminal Justice (BS). Of the three programs, only Museum Studies has been active over 
the past five years and currently has 27 students enrolled. There are a variety of reasons why 
these programs are where they are currently, but the purpose of this report is to look forward 
rather than backwards. The preponderance of distance education to date has been largely the 
development of mostly hybrid courses, i.e., courses that are a combination of web-enabled 
courses to augment classroom teaching. Such hybrids currently exist to varying degrees but 
are essentially main campus courses that use our current learning management system (LMS), 
Moodle, as a teaching aid. There are, however, some courses that are officially designated as 
“online”. These online courses are offered to students that are currently enrolled at SUNO and 
provide students with an alternative to face-to-face delivery.  

While the goal of accelerating the development and growth of online programs has 
been around for years, the Coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the need for a more 
vigorous online footprint. COVID-19 has certainly brought many challenges, but it has also 
enabled certain opportunities. We can leverage some of the investments to enhance our 
academic and technology capabilities around developing and delivering online education in 
the midst of COVID-19 and to reimagine our longer-term goals in relation to offering fully 
online programs. 

The new paradigm envisioned for SUNO is a dramatic break from the existing view of 
distance education, into a far more comprehensive and robust fully online program and course 
delivery mechanism, fully outfitted with the appropriate supports that would enable students 
to complete their education at SUNO without ever attending the main campus or any satellite 
location. Our existing online support apparatus will continue to support current online and 
hybrid courses; however, a new and significantly upgraded Online Program Office will be the 
formal replacement to organize, implement and to sustain a dramatically enhanced online 
posture. The emphasis will shift to development and support of fully online programs and 
course offerings and providing assistance to online course content development. It can also 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 2  

 

2 

serve as a center of excellence to support online programs and main campus digital content 
courses as well. 

The purpose of this strategic plan is to convey the refocus emphasis on online distance 
education programs and to create a clear picture of the associated mind shift that must occur 
at the leadership levels in order to fully embrace this bold redirection. If the plan is undertaken 
as conceived, a dramatically different future is ahead for SUNO; one that includes top-notch 
online programs that render not only tremendous value for students, but also provides an 
additional funding model that supports traditional academic programs and institutional 
stability. This report depicts the development of our online programs in two phases that 
encompass the strategic challenge we face on the road to fulfillment of our vision for online 
programs at SUNO. 

As an outline, four main components provide an overarching view of our challenge: 
(1) the compelling need to change, (2) what does the change look like, (3) what does it take 
to get there, and (4) what does this mean to SUNO. 

The Compelling Reason to Change 
There is somewhat of a revolution occurring in higher education. Much of the angst is 

currently below the radar but it will soon burst forth with the potential to overwhelm colleges 
and universities that have not sufficiently diversified and modernized their programs to take 
into account the new realities. What are these new realities one might ask? They include: 

• Greater concerns by consumers of education on concepts of return on investment. 
• Greater scrutiny of education by the federal government in terms of tuition and fee 

rates, level of student indebtedness, and job placement rates. 
• Enhanced oversight by boards and external funders for more measurement-based data 

for decision making purposes. 
• Greater oversight by accrediting organizations to ensure program outcomes as well as 

academic and financial soundness. 
• For public institutions, shrinking or stagnant funding from state legislatures. 
• Greater pressure from traditional sources like research grants because of federal budget 

considerations. 
• Increased competition from for-profit educational institutions that are more nimble and 

flexible than traditional colleges and universities thus forcing them to become more 
entrepreneurial and market focused. 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 3  

 

3 

• Greater need for colleges and universities to right-size their operations, particularly in 
terms of overhead, and ensuring that their operations are as efficient and effective as 
possible. 

• Enhanced focus on customer service and value for students as a means of competing 
more effectively with peer institutions. 

These are only some of the key drivers that are expected to influence the delivery of 
education now and well into the foreseeable future and have been dramatically accentuated 
because of the COVID-19 pandemic. The colleges and universities that proactively prepare for 
these new realities position themselves to be able to withstand the inevitable shakeout that will 
occur among colleges and universities. These realities are even more acute for historically black 
colleges and universities (HBCUs) because of the often-tenuous financial condition that plague 
such institutions and the lack of resources and reserves that many of the well-funded primarily 
white institutions (PWIs) enjoy. 

A recent study by Bain and Company showed that about one-third of colleges and 
universities are in financial trouble. The cost of operating is increasing at a faster rate than their 
available funding, particularly endowment funding. This is particularly inauspicious for HBCUs 
because they usually cannot rely on endowments as a primary source of funding. What does 
Bain recommend? -- “That will require having a clear strategy, streamlined operations, a strong 
financial foundation, trust and accountability, and a willingness to invest only in innovations 
that truly create value for the institution.”  

In December of last year, Moody’s maintained their negative outlook for the higher 
education sector for the second consecutive year. They said, “for fiscal 2019, we preliminarily 
project that 15-20 percent of universities will have grown reserves above our 3 percent estimate 
for higher education inflation while over 30 percent will have had greater than 3 percent 
declines in cash and investment levels.” Moreover, the report states, “as a result, there will 
continue to be a high focus on cost containment over the next year, with continued program 
rationalizations and potentially more colleges considering merging, collaborating or in some 
cases closing.” 

Further, a fairly recent New York Times article said that “only 500 or so of the 4,000 plus 
colleges and universities appear to be financially stable enough to be relatively safe.” Given 
these environmental headwinds, now is a propitious opportunity to position SUNO to withstand 
these challenges by creating a new paradigm for an important segment of its operations---
distance education and online learning. One of the main drivers of peril that Bain & Company 
mentioned is that expenses are growing far faster than revenue. Key infrastructure and 
maintenance decisions are being deferred because of the lack of debt capacity. An excellent 
way to mitigate the need for physical infrastructure is to augment existing infrastructure with 
virtual infrastructure. Investments, and they are investments, in online capabilities have the 
potential to mitigate the need for costly capital projects and provide an opportunity to 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 4  

 

4 

strategically allocate limited resources for expansion into those programs that are most 
promising and strategically aligned with the vision of the college or university. 

One way that SUNO can achieve an expanding student body without the associated 
physical infrastructure demands is to grow through distance education. A general scalability 
example can help to frame the point; what would it cost to be able to support growth of 2,000 
additional students? What would it cost in terms of dormitories, auxiliary services, classroom 
space, technology, and physical infrastructure? Sure, there would be additional revenue, but 
there would be massive increases in fixed costs as well. On the distance education side, through 
our existing technical infrastructure we currently support roughly 2,000 students, with varying 
levels of engagement with our online services. We can accommodate additional students far 
more flexibly using online platforms at dramatically less costs relative to what we would 
experience if we brought that many students to campus. In other words, the incremental costs 
associated with growth online are far less than the fixed and variable costs related to face-to-
face students.  Clearly, it makes economic sense to embark on this journey towards a far greater 
online presence, but it is also in our enlightened self-interests to pursue this as well.  

Our current strategic plan offers guidance in this regard. The Southern University System 
(SUS) strategic goals provide a compelling rationale for moving in this direction. The following 
SUS and SUNO goals and objectives (Appendix A and B) create a vibrant opportunity for the 
University: 

 
 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 5  

 

5 

 

 
With this overall guidance from the SUS, we have the organizational imperative that we need 
to inspire creative leadership towards fulfillment of these worthwhile goals. There are enormous 
potential advantages to developing a robust distance education capability. Among the benefits 
include: 

• Greater ability to focus resources in areas that are of strategic importance to the 
university. 

• The opportunity to build on signature programs. 
• Greater ability to expand into niches that are uniquely open to HBCUs because of the 

significant minority populations within the greater New Orleans area. 
• Development of a new funding model without the associated cost structure of 

traditional growth. 
• Ability to standardize the curriculum and program/course offerings thereby assuring 

credible program assessment standards in accordance with accrediting bodies. 
• Ability to leverage world-class faculty as a draw for online programs. 

 

According to Allen and Seaman (2018), the number of distance education students grew 
by 5.6% from Fall 2015 to Fall 2016 to reach 6,359,121 who are taking at least one distance 
course, representing 31.6% of all students. Total distance enrollments are composed of 14.9% 
of students (3,003,080) taking exclusively distance courses, and 16.7% (3,356,041) who are 
taking a combination of distance and non-distance courses. It is clear that the growth 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 6  

 

6 

opportunities for colleges and universities are online. I believe that the colleges and universities 
that have physical campuses and strong academic programs on which to anchor online 
programs are the ones that will be able to withstand the forces highlighted at the beginning 
of this report. Not only can SUNO overcome the coming challenges, with smart investments in 
online capabilities and embracing this new paradigm, it can thrive in this environment. 

  

What Does Change Look Like? 
A review of our current state of readiness and a corresponding assessment of the 

antecedents to a reimagined future for SUNO, there are several areas of consideration:  
1. There must be a formal organization established with responsibility for growing our 

online programs. (see proposed organizational structure) 

 
 
2. We need to consider a far more robust LMS that can assist the development and growth 

of our online and web-enhanced programs and courses. The current Moodle system is 
adequate for our current needs, but our vision will require a more sophisticated LMS, 
such as Blackboard or some other similar system. We will also need 24/7 technical 
support. 

3. At this point there is very limited course development and support available. We will 
have to invest in more resources to support development of quality online course 
content. 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 7  

 

7 

 
 

4. Revise or Revisit our current strategic plan for growth (see projections below) to a more 
conservative obtainable enrollment based on the new rebuilt structure of current and 
future programs: 

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 8  

 

8 

 

 

 
 

 

Our vision is that the operational model to support online programs will establish a support 
ecosystem that will enable growth and development of our online programs. We further 
envision a vibrant partnership between this entity and the academic community to help us to 
realize our goals. 

 

So What Things Have to Change? 
SUNO Online will need a student-centric approach that showcases convenience, 

customer service, high faculty engagement and interaction, and high levels of student support 
structures. The table below gives a glimpse of the old world vs. new world. 
 

SUNO Online 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 9  

 

9 

Old Thinking New Thinking 

Accommodate internal system capabilities Accommodate students 

8:30 – 4:30 Service Hours Available When Students Need It 

Check with …. for help Click on needed resource 

Department Focused One-Stop Shop Focused 

People related service provision Automated services 

Physical access to support Virtual access to support 

Individual Faculty Dependent Department/Program Area Dependent 

 
Our view is that the new online organization will be the nucleus for providing these highly 
student-centric services to support our online programs. 

 

What Does It Take to Get There? 
This new SUNO Online Strategic Plan takes bold new steps in a way that is calibrated 

to ensure the strong likelihood of success. There are two distinct phases that will focus on 
leveraging existing capabilities that are described above that will support enhancements to the 
current online capabilities as well as building in sufficient lead time to bring new capabilities 
onboard. 

Phase I – Timeline: October 2020 through March 2021 

Phase I is designed to get revenue generating online courses that can work within the existing 
support system. The features in phase I would focus on the following items: 

1. Course Development - Building out existing courses to support our current online 
program offerings. We will focus heavily of general education and majors within the 
various curricula.  

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 10  

 

10 

2. Operating Structure - We will work through the Office of the Vice Chancellor for 
Administration and Finance to setup the operating structure for online programs. This 
will include: 

• A separate profit center designation for online programs. 
• Restructured tuition and fees that are competitive in the marketplace 

Establishment of our organizational design as one-stop support for all applicants who apply 
for the online program. As the program grows, we will add staff in areas that will maintain the 
high-level of service that is needed to successfully operate online programs. Most notably 
those enhanced features include: 

a) Powerful LMS capabilities with 24/7 technical support. 
b) Coordinated front-end processes including admissions, registrations, and financial 

aid support. 
c) A comprehensive marketing plan that promotes all online program and course 

offerings 
d) Student advising geared to online students. 
e) Availability of and access to institutional resources like tutoring, library, and career 

planning and placement.  
 

Phase II – Timeline : Summer/Fall 2021 to Fall 2025 

This is the phase that represents a dramatic break from the past. In this phase we roll out new 
fully online programs in an accelerated format that will allow students to complete their degree 
in a manner that is convenient for them and comports with their lifestyles. These programs are 
geared to adult learners who are either pursuing a bachelor’s degree or an advanced degree. 
These degree programs will build on high potential programs on main campus that can be 
converted to an online format. All of the initial programs are in high demand and would be 
well received in the marketplace. To be successful, these programs must be built around the 
characteristics identified earlier that support successful fully online programs, i.e. a strong 
technical environment with 24/7 support, integrated front-end processes, capable and 
enthusiastic advising, and a vigorous marketing program that uses a multi-pronged approach 
to attracting identified student populations that want the experience of attending a high quality 
HBCU but in an online program. 

Phase II Elements: 
• Roll out new fully online programs in an accelerated format 
• Create 8-week format rather than full semester 
• Create one-stop virtual process/center capabilities (Student-focused processes 

and procedures that facilitate online learning) 
• Continue vigorous and comprehensive marketing and recruitment efforts 
• Micro-site 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 11  

 

11 

• Measure student engagement (recruitment to graduation and beyond) 
• Recruitment and Marketing 

o Determine Value Proposition 
o Free Internal Marketing (YouTube, Instagram, Facebook, LinkedIn, Podcast, 

Webinar, etc.) 
o Analytics 
o Personalize messaging to targeted demographics 
o Online Chat 
o Online incentives (i.e., free e-books, scholarships) 

• Retention 
o Virtual Student Support 
o Virtual Advisors 
o Retention / Early Alert Software 

 

What Does This Mean to SUNO? 
Building and sustaining a vibrant and robust distance education program at SUNO will 

require a reorientation around the systems that support this learning modality. University 
leadership must embrace this new paradigm that is focused externally rather than internally—
this refocus recognizes that to the online student, their perceptions of our program are based 
on the extent to which our systems meet their needs. In other words, our systems will need to 
support student needs to a far greater extent than is typically realized for main campus 
students. This entails tremendous organizational commitment. How is this commitment 
exemplified? By: 

• Top leadership support 
• Student-focused processes and procedures that facilitate online learning 
• Vigorous and comprehensive marketing and recruitment efforts 
• Paying attention to all aspects of student engagement from the time that they 

inquire about a program until the time that they graduate…and beyond! 

In order to realize the desired vision for online learning at SUNO there will be a need 
for organizational commitment to ensuring that the appropriate levels of resources are applied. 
This will necessitate developing a dedicated budget for online learning that can be applied to 
continuously improve services and operations. A distance education fee or similar type of 
institutionalized funding model would help with strategic planning for online services in support 
of the University’s mission. Having a dedicated budget would also provide certainty and 
uniformity of planning and operations.  



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 12  

 

12 

What’s the Payoff?  
Not only would this new paradigm present students with a wider array of options for 

gaining a superior education, there would also be economic benefits that would accrue to 
the University. This new model assumes that the systems would generate far more revenue 
than is used in the provision of online learning. It should provide net proceeds sufficient not 
only to repay the institution’s support and overhead, but also be a net generator of liquid 
resources to provide additional funding for academic programs. Below is a rather 
conservative estimate of the financial contribution of online learning in the new paradigm.  

Below is an estimate/example of the potential revenue from the Phase II model. New 
models will be built reflecting revised tuition and fees approved by the Board of Supervisors 
and also based on projected yield from marketing efforts. 

 

Assumptions: EXAMPLE  

 

• Tuition Rate $375/cr hr 
• Fall 2021 Enrollment:  130 • Funding from:  Title III 

• 3/cr hr classes 
• Fall 2022 Enrollment:  353 • Funding from:  Admin OH 

• Faculty rate $3,000 
• Fall 2023 Enrollment:  388 • Funding from:  Existing GF 

• 6 (8-week session)  
• Fall 2024 Enrollment:  427 

 

• Average 1.5 classes per session 
• Fall 2025 Enrollment:  470 

 

• DE fee of $30 
• 15 students per class  

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 13  

 

13 

In order to reach these numbers (and higher!), SUNO should also take on a recruiting role and 
cross-market our online programs along with traditional programs and services. The online 
offerings become a central aspect of SUNO’s overall marketing program. 

A special note should be made about a key issue with online enrollment, which is that there 
are often retention problems from session to session (Allan & Seaman, 2010). However, there 
are measures that can be taken to reduce the attrition rate. The research shows that several 
factors relate to retention. They include (in ranked order): 

1. Course Instructor – requires high level of faculty engagement. 
2. Course content – content should be meaningful and well-developed. 
3. Social interaction – students desire networking and collaboration opportunities with 

their fellow students –being part of a community is important to building a social 
connection. 

4. Courses should be well-designed (navigation, simplicity, etc.) 
5. Personal variables – each student differs in terms of their personal needs. Depending 

on their level of support at home and/or work, these needs vary considerably. In 
general, students need supportive systems that they can readily access. 

SUNO can realize this new paradigm by exercising bold leadership and embracing the new 
realities facing institutions of higher learning. Online learning a can play an integral role in 
helping SUNO fulfill its mission and realize its vision with the focus on three (3) 
recommendations:  

1. Distance Education Fee (Online Classes) 

2. Market tuition prices 

3. Adult Degree Market Orientation 

 

This strategic plan hopefully sparks a much wider and comprehensive discussion of what this 
new paradigm requires as we implement and execute on this plan with a initial investment from 
the system. 

 

 

 

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 14  

 

14 

  

APPENDIX A 
Southern University System (SUS) Strategic Online Goal, Objective and Strategies 

 

Goal 1: Commitment to Student Access and Affordability 

Objective 1.3: To increase 100% Online Enrollment by 1,856% from baseline 202 in Fall 
2017 to 3,951 in Fall 2025. SUNO Online Projections (Baseline Fall 2017 [34 FTEs] to Fall 2025 [601 FTEs]) 

Strategies 

I.3.1 Build, scale, and sustain new online programs and certificates 

I.3.2 Target marketing to special populations – Military Personnel 

I.3.3 Target marketing to special populations – Professionals in Specific Industries 

I.3.4 Develop a detailed enrollment plan of action for online education 

I.3.5 Identify a campus leader for online education 

I.3.6 

Establish a dynamic and efficient digital marketing plan for recruiting 
students to online programs and courses to include the use of digital 
advertising, email marketing, social media, blogging, and promotional 
videos. 

I.3.7 Collaborate with the Office of the Registrar to remove barriers for online 
students when completing the registration process.  

I.3.8 Provide guidance for training topics and opportunities concerning 
instructional technology and sound pedagogy. 

I.3.9 Scale resources - online faculty, students, technology, and staff support - 
to meet the growing needs of online courses and programs  

I.3.10 Provide initial and continuous training opportunities for online faculty 

I.3.11 Evaluate the current online course rubric and revise as necessary 

I.3.12 

Identify programs where at least 50% of their major plan of study is 
currently being offered online. Once these programs are identified, 
approach department chairs/directors about offering a fully online degree 
option in addition to the face-to-face degree 

I.3.13 
Work with faculty and departments to convert courses and programs to 
100% online 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 15  

 

15 

I.3.14 
Outline additional budget requirements needed by departments and 
support units as courses and programs are converted to an online 
platform 

I.3.15 
Identify and convert courses that can be used across multiple degrees and 
programs.  

I.3.16 Evaluate current policies and plans for online learning. 

I.3.17 Continuously assess all online courses and programs. 

I.3.18 
Provide equitable, engaging, and comprehensive academic support for 
online learners. 

I.3.19 
Provide equitable, engaging, and comprehensive student support for 
online learners. 

I.3.20 
Create opportunities for online learners to become involved in campus 
activities.  

I.3.21 Initiate peer mentoring for online learners.  

I.3.22 Increase availability of online tutoring in online courses. 

I.3.23 
Collaborate with specific Student Affairs units to offer workshops, career 
fairs, and student organization memberships for online learners.  

I.3.24 
Strengthen the online presence in the Student Government Association 
and offer voting opportunities for online students. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 16  

 

16 

APPENDIX B 
Southern University at New Orleans (SUNO) Strategic Online Goal, Objective and Strategies 

 

Goal 1: Commitment to Student Access and Affordability 

Objective 1.4: To increase SUNO Online Enrollment by 1668% from baseline 34 in Fall 
2017 to 601 in Fall 2025. 

Strategies 

I.4.1 Provide continuous training opportunities for online faculty 

I.4.2 Continuously assess, update and market all online courses and programs 

I.4.3 Develop and implement a marketing plan with strategies to promote 
online/distance education across the globe 

I.4.4 
Work closely with the office of Information Technology, E-Learning, Library 
and the faculty to determine more innovative ways to access and deliver 
course options to enrolled students 

I.4.5 Create a position to Coordinate Online Enrollment, courses, etc. and hire 

I.4.6 
Create opportunities for online learners to become involved in campus 
activities 

I.4.7 Ensure that online faculty, students, technology and staff support scales 
that appropriately meets the needs of online courses and program growth  

I.4.8 Regularly enhance and maintain the University website 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SUNO:  ONLINE STRATEGIC PLAN 

Page | 17  

 

17 

 

 

Presentation Developed and Presented to Respective Stakeholders: 

 
• SUNO’s VC for Academic Affairs   
• SUNO’s Deans 
• SUNO’s Chairs 
• SUNO’s E-Learning 
• SUNO’s Interim VC for Administration and Finance 
• Faculty Senate Leadership 

 

 

Sources: 
• Campus Technology 
• I. Allen & J. Seaman, Learning on Demand: Online education in the United States. 

2019 
• S. Harris, Y. Larrier, and M. Castano-Bishop, “Development of the Student 

Expectations of Online Learning Survey: A Pilot Study. 2011 
• US Bureau of Labor Statistics 
• US News and World Report 

 

 



Southern 
University 

at New Orleans

Online Strategic 
Plan

Dr. James H. Ammons, Jr. PhD

Interim Chancellor 



SUS:  Strategic Goals

Goal 1: Commitment to Student Access and Affordability

Objective 1.3: To increase 100% Online Enrollment by 1,856% from baseline 202 in Fall 2017 to 3,951 in Fall 
2025. SUNO Online Projections (Baseline Fall 2017 [34 FTEs] to Fall 2025 [601 FTEs])

St
ra

te
gi

es

1.3.1 Build, scale, and sustain new online programs and certificates.

1.3.4 Develop a detailed enrollment plan of action for online education

1.3.6
Scale resources - online faculty, students, technology, and staff support - to meet the 
growing needs of online courses and programs

1.3.10 Provide initial and continuous training opportunities for online faculty



SUNO:  Strategic Goals

Goal 1: Continuing to Develop and Expand the Student Recruitment, Admissions and Enrollment Strategies

Objective 1.4: To increase SUNO Online Enrollment by 1,668% from baseline 34 in Fall 2017 to 601 in Fall 
2025. 

St
ra

te
gi

es

1.4.1 Provide continuous training opportunities for online faculty

1.4.3 Develop and implement a marketing plan with strategies to promote online/distance 
education across the globe.

1.4.5 Create a position to Coordinate Online Enrollment, courses, etc. and hire

1.4.7 Ensure that online faculty, students, technology and staff support scales that appropriately 
meets the needs of online courses and program growth



Proposed Organizational Structure

Executive 
Director of Online 
(Digital) Learning

Instructor 
Designer

Course Support 
Specialist

Student Support 
Coordinator Student Advisor

Program 
(Recruitment) 
Coordinators

Digital Learning 
Administrator

LMS Coordinator



Approved
Online Degree 
Programs

Unde rgra dua te
• B.S. General (Interdisciplinary) Studies
• B.S. Criminal Justice

Gra dua te
• M.A. Museum Studies



Current and Trend 
Enrollment

• *https://www.louisianaonline.org/institution.php?id=10

Program (s) Fall 
2016

Spring 
2017

Fall 
2017

Spring 
2018

Fall 
2018

Spring 
2019

Fall 
2019

Spring 
2020

Fall 
2020

Museum Studies* 
(M.A.) 30 34 34 29 29 33 39 43 27

General 
(Interdisciplinary)
Studies* (B.S.)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Criminal Justice* 
(B.S.) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0



Future Online 
Degree 
Programs

Unde rgra dua te
• B.S. Health Information 

Management Systems
• B.A. Psychology

Gra dua te
• M.A. Criminal Justice
• M.A.  Teaching (MAT) in General 

and Special Education
• MSW  Social Work



Current 
Strategic 
Plan for 
Growth

28 40

110

250

287

378

483

601

0

43%

175%

127%

15%

32%
28% 24%

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Fall 2018 Fall 2019 Fall 2020 Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Fall 2024 Fall 2025

Projected Enrollment Difference



Conservative 
Plans for 
Growth

28 40

110

250

287

378

483

601

29 33 27

130

353

388

427

470

10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Fall 2018 Fall 2019 Fall 2020 Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Fall 2024 Fall 2025

Projected Enrollment Actual Enrollment % of Enrollment



Plans for Growth (10% per program)

Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Fall 2024 Fall 2025
Museum Studies 40 44 48 53 59
General Studies 30 33 36 40 44
Criminal Justice 60 66 73 80 88
Criminal Justice (MA) 0 60 66 73 80
Teaching General & Special Education 0 30 33 36 40
HIMS 0 30 33 36 40
Social Work 0 60 66 73 80
Psychology 0 30 33 36 40

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100



What Does 
It Take to 
Get There?

• Phase I

• Course Development
• Implement Proposed Organizational Structure
• Create a separate department (financial purposes) 

designated for online program
• Restructure tuition and fees that are competitive in the 

marketplace
• Powerful LMS capabilities with 24/7 technical support
• Coordinate front-end processes including admissions, 

registrations, and financial aid support
• A comprehensive marketing plan that promotes all 

online program and course offerings
• Student advising geared to online students
• Availability of and access to institutional resources like 

tutoring, library, and career planning and placement



What Does 
It Take to 
Get There?

• Phase II

• Roll out new fully online programs in an accelerated format
• Create 8-week format rather than full semester
• Create one-stop virtual process/center capabilities (Student-

focused processes and procedures that facilitate online 
learning)

• Continue vigorous and comprehensive marketing and 
recruitment efforts

• Micro-site
• Measure student engagement (recruitment to graduation 

and beyond)



Recruitment, 
Retention & 
Marketing

• Recruitment and Marketing
Determine Value Proposition
Free Internal Marketing (YouTube, Instagram, 

Facebook, LinkedIn, Podcast, Webinar, etc.)
Analytics
Personalize messaging to targeted 

demographics
Online Chat
Online incentives (i.e., free-ebooks, 

scholarships)
• Retention
Virtual Student Support
Virtual Advisors
Retention / Early Alert Software



Challenge(s)

• Initial Funding for Investment
Personnel for Proposed 

Organizational Structure
Comprehensive Marketing Outlay
Course Development and Training



Example, Online Proforma

SUNO Proforma for Online (EXAMPLE)
EXAMPLE

Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Fall 2024 Fall 2025 Total
Revenue

Tuition $1,316,250 $3,574,125 $3,928,500 $4,323,375 $4,758,750 $17,901,000 
Fee 35,100 58,140 63,900 70,380 77,400 304,920 
Investment 500,000 500,000 

Total Revenue $1,851,350 $3,632,265 $3,992,400 $4,393,755 $4,836,150 $18,705,920 

Expense
Faculty/Instructor Salaries $234,000 $635,400 $698,400 $768,600 $846,000 3,182,400 
Administrative Overhead (20%) $370,270 $726,453 $798,480 $878,751 $967,230 3,741,184 
Travel
Operating Supplies 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 125,000 
Other Charges (Mkt/Recruit)* 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,250,000 
Investment Payback 500,000 500,000 

Total Expenses $1,379,270 $1,636,853 $1,771,880 $1,922,351 $2,088,230 $8,798,584 

Net Revenue $472,080 $1,995,412 $2,220,520 $2,471,404 $2,747,920 $9,907,336 
* Co-Marketing



Recommendations

Distance 
Education Fee 

(Online Classes)

Market tuition 
prices

Adult Degree 
Market 

Orientation



Questions/Comments



 
 

Online Enrollment Report 
Fall 2020 

 
Online Degree Programmatic Areas 

Southern University at Shreveport Louisiana (SUSLA) received approval March 2014 from 
SACSCOC to offer online educational programs.  SUSLA started with two online programs 
which are listed below: 

● Business Management (AS) 
● Health Information Technology (AAS)  

Under the leadership of Dr. Veronica McEachin, SUSLA added four online programs with 13 
concentrations and one online certificate.  SUSLA currently has six online programs with 13 
concentrations and one online certificate which are listed below: 

• Associate of Applied Science Criminal Justice Administration 
• Associate of Science Business Management 
• Associate of General Studies 

o General Education 
o Biology 
o Pre-Allied Health 
o Chemistry 
o Science/Pre-Health   
o Physical Sciences 
o Business Administration 
o Humanities 

• Associate of Arts, Louisiana Transfer 
o Criminal Justice 
o Humanities 

• Associate of Science, Louisiana Transfer 
o Biological Sciences 
o General Business 
o Physical Science 

• Computer Networking Technology, CNET (CIS) 

  

 



 
 
Current Enrollment 

SUSLA began with four students in spring 2015 and currently has 84 students enrolled in 100% 
online programs.  In addition, SUSLA has 578 students enrolled in all online classes (no face-to-
face classes) and 923 students are enrolled in at least one online course. 
 
 
Enrollment Trends  
 

 
 
 
Strategic Goal 

SUSLA strategic goal is “Cultivate a Culture of Academic Excellence” .  

Strategy 1.1.2 – Promote and increase delivery of distance learning courses and 
program offerings. 

SUSLA has significantly expanded the Number of 100% Online Programs. 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Actual 4 7 21 20 30 63 84
Expected 20 13 40 65

4 7

21 20
30

63

84

20
13

40

65



 
 
Recruitment, Retention and Marketing 

• Purchase a text messaging system exclusively for E-Learning 
• Using digital marketing to communicate with potential students 
• Enhance E-Learning Web Page 
• Billboards 
• Recruit Military Personnel 
• Recruit students that have stopped out 
• Brochures 
• Provide webinar for online students to alleviate challenges and promote student 

success. 
• Provide additional “Tips and Strategies” training to help faculty engage online 

students. 
Challenges 

• The E-Learning staff in Shreveport consist of two individuals which include the Director 
of E-Learning and the LMS Administrator.  They are responsible for providing Moodle 
and course development training to faculty.  They troubleshoot problems for faculty and 
students.   

• Starting January 2020, the E-Learning staff became primarily responsible for overseeing 
the Moodle Help-Desk. 

• From January 2020 – March 2020, the E-Learning Staff and volunteers served 
approximately 3,000 students, faculty and staff.  The E-Learning staff trained individuals 
how to login and navigate the new Moodle and provided troubleshooting services. 

• Unexpectedly, in March of 2020, SUSLA experienced the challenges of Covid-19.  The 
E-Learning staff recruited campus volunteers to assist with transitioning all face-to-face 
classes to the virtual/online platform within a short period of time.  The team worked 
evenings and weekends to ensure a successful transition for faculty and students.  

  
Plans for Growth  
 
The E-Learning Department received funds to hire two staff members which are listed below: 

o  Online/Distance Education Technology Support Specialist 
o Instructional Designer 

• The Director of E-Learning will work closely with  the deans to increase online programs 
and certificates 

• The E-Learning staff  will text, email and call students that have stopped out and 
encourage them to complete their Associate degree at SUSLA 

https://mail.susla.edu/owa/redir.aspx?SURL=tgXfswgWVQHYNWWTCV73-O_-Bn1PPmWwZRQDV3a2d25AMzHcVWrYCGgAdAB0AHAAcwA6AC8ALwB3AHcAdwAuAHMAdQBzAGwAYQAuAGUAZAB1AC8AbgBlAHcAcwAvAG8AbgBsAGkAbgBlAGQAaQBzAHQAYQBuAGMAZQAtAGUAZAB1AGMAYQB0AGkAbwBuAC0AdABlAGMAaABuAG8AbABvAGcAeQAtAHMAdQBwAHAAbwByAHQALQBzAHAAZQBjAGkAYQBsAGkAcwB0AA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fwww.susla.edu%2fnews%2fonlinedistance-education-technology-support-specialist
https://mail.susla.edu/owa/redir.aspx?SURL=tgXfswgWVQHYNWWTCV73-O_-Bn1PPmWwZRQDV3a2d25AMzHcVWrYCGgAdAB0AHAAcwA6AC8ALwB3AHcAdwAuAHMAdQBzAGwAYQAuAGUAZAB1AC8AbgBlAHcAcwAvAG8AbgBsAGkAbgBlAGQAaQBzAHQAYQBuAGMAZQAtAGUAZAB1AGMAYQB0AGkAbwBuAC0AdABlAGMAaABuAG8AbABvAGcAeQAtAHMAdQBwAHAAbwByAHQALQBzAHAAZQBjAGkAYQBsAGkAcwB0AA..&URL=https%3a%2f%2fwww.susla.edu%2fnews%2fonlinedistance-education-technology-support-specialist


 
• The E-Learning Department will text, email and call prospective students to complete 

their degrees. 

  
Any additional information that you deem appropriate 

The Director, LMS Administrator, faculty and adjunct faculty were instrumental in accomplishing 
the following: 

• Students enrolled in at least one online course increased from 4.87% to 30.00%. 
• The number of online and hybrid courses developed increased from 44 courses 

to approximately 113 courses. 
• Over 44 online courses have been developed using Open Educational 

Resources. 
• The number of full time and adjunct faculty certified to teach online increased 

from 25 to approximately 85 trained faculty members. 
• The number of 100% online programs increased from two online programs to six 

with thirteen concentrations. 

With the increased demand for online course offerings and the responsibility of overseeing the 
Moodle Help-Desk, the Department of E-Learning still needs additional personnel to effectively 
serve the students and faculty. Additional personnel will increase student count and revenue 
exponentially. 

  





Strategic Goal

Cultivate a Culture of 
Academic Excellence

Strategy 1.1.2 

Promote and increase delivery of distance 
learning courses and program offerings



Academic 
Programs

• Associate of Applied Science Criminal Justice Administration
• Associate of Science Business Management
• Associate of General Studies

• General Education
• Biology
• Pre-Allied Health
• Chemistry 
• Science/Pre-Health 
• Physical Sciences 
• Business Administration 
• Humanities 

• Associate of Arts, Louisiana Transfer
• Criminal Justice
• Humanities 

• Associate of Science, Louisiana Transfer
• Biological Sciences
• General Business
• Physical Science
• Computer Networking Technology, CNET (CIS)



Enrollment Trends 2014-2020

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Actual 4 7 21 20 30 63 84
Expected 20 13 40 65

4 7

21 20

30

63

84

20
13

40

65



Marketing 

Recruitment

Retention

Purchase a text messaging system exclusively for E-Learning

Using digital marketing to communicate with potential students

Enhance E-Learning Web Page

Billboards

Recruit Military Personnel 

Recruit students that have stopped out

Brochures 

Provide webinar for online students to alleviate challenges and promote student success.

Provide additional “Tips and Strategies”  training to help faculty engage online students.

Utilize Social Media



Challenges 
● Staff 

○ The E-Learning staff in Shreveport 
consist of two individuals 

■ The Director of E-Learning

■ LMS Administrator



Challenges 

● E-Learning Staff Responsibilities 

○ Provide Moodle and Course Development 
training to faculty

○ Help troubleshoot Moodle problems for 
faculty and students

○ Starting January 2020, the E-Learning staff 
became primarily responsible for 
overseeing the Moodle Help-Desk

■ The E-Learning Staff and volunteers 
served approximately 3,000 
students, faculty and staff

○ The staff trained individuals how to login 
and navigate Moodle and provided 
troubleshooting services



Plans for Growth 

● The E-Learning Department received funds  to hire two s taff members
○ Online/ Dis tance Education Technology Support Specia lis t 
○ Ins tructional Des igner

● The Director of E-Learning will work closely with  the deans  to increase online 
programs  and certificates

● The E-Learning s taff  will text, email and call s tudents  that have s topped out and 
encourage them to complete their Associa te degree a t SUSLA

● The E-Learning Department will text, email and call prospective s tudents  to 
complete their degrees



The Director, LMS Administrator, faculty and adjunct 
faculty were ins trumental in accomplis hing the following:

● Students  enrolled in at leas t one online cours e increas ed from 4.87% to 30.00%.
● The number of online and hybrid cours es  developed increas ed from 44 cours es  to 

approximately 113 cours es .
● Over 44 online cours es  have been developed us ing Open Educational Res ources .
● The number of full time and adjunct faculty certified to teach online increas ed from 25 to 

approximately 85 trained faculty members .
● The number of 100% online programs  increas ed from two online programs  to s ix with thirteen 

concentrations .
● With the increas ed demand for online cours e offerings  and the res pons ibility of overs eeing the 

Moodle Help-Des k, the Department of E-Learning s till needs  additional pers onnel to effectively 
s erve the s tudents  and faculty. Additional pers onnel will increas e s tudent count and revenue 
exponentially.



Thank you









Southern University Law 
Center

Online Enrollment Options
Fall 2020



Southern University Law Center Supports Other 
Southern University On-Line Programs

• Joint JD-MBA program with Southern 
University and A&M College Baton Rouge, 
College of Busines 

• Joint JD-MPA program with Southern 
University A&M College of Social and 
Behavioral Sciences  



Challenges in Moving On-Line 

• Traditional ABA rules prohibit an entirely 
on-line JD program.

• A college degree is required for law 
school; college degree attainment in 
Louisiana is 75% of the US average.

• Faculty resources to expand a program 
are limited.



SULC Can Create or Partner with Other 
Parts of Southern University for 
Certificates and Other Programs 

• Legal programs for medical professionals
• Legal programs for law enforcement
• Legal programs on cannabis regulation
• Others?
• Stackable certificates can build to a Master of 

Science in Law degree while providing 
benefits at each step.



SULC Online 
Degree Programs



Status of  SULC Online Degree Programs

• Currently, the Southern University Law Center has no 100% online degree program. To
date, the American Bar Association (ABA) Council on Legal Education has never accredited
a Juris Doctor Degree program that is 100% online.

• Even though SULC does not have any 100% online degree programs, there are some
potential opportunities to develop non-JD programs that could lead to stackable credentials,
and certificates, on non-JD degrees.

• Since SULC does not have any 100% campus online degree programs, there is nothing to
report with respect to current enrollment for online programs, enrollment trends for online
programs, strategic goals for online programs, recruitment, retention, and marketing issues
related to online programs, and challenges with respect to online programs.



While there now are no online degree programs at SULC, and the enrollment at SULC is healthy 
and at an all-time high, SULC does see potential for growth opportunities related to the creation 
of  remote distance learning educational opportunities in non-JD degree areas leading to stackable 
credentials and non-JD degrees. 

SULC Remote Distance Learning Educational 
Opportunities 

• Financial Regulatory 
Compliance

• Paralegal Studies
• Law and Technology

• Legal Operations
• Title IX

• Legislative Advocacy, 
Lobbying and 
Governmental Relations 

• E-Discovery
• E-Sports

• Healthcare 
Compliance

• Human Resources

Examples of  such opportunities include 
stackable credential or degree programs in 
the following areas:



• For SULC to pursue such potential
opportunities, there would be a
need for an investment of
approximately $3M either in pool
cost reductions or new dollars
offering to cover sustained
recruitment and marketing over
the next three years.

Future Investments Required for SULC Distance Learning 
Educational Opportunities 



Hire staff  and incur costs required to administer 
such distance learning programs;

Reinvest 35% of  earned revenue annually for 
continued marketing after the initial investment; 

Invest in faculty required for the credentials or 
non-JD degree programs;

Engage in branding strategies.

SULC would have to be given broad autonomy authority to set fees related 
to premium specialized credential or non-JD degree programs in order to: 

Future Investments Required for SULC Distance Learning 
Educational Opportunities 





FACILITIES AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE 
 (following the Academic Affairs Committee) 

Friday, October 23, 2020 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5.  Action Item 
 

A. Request Approval for SU System five-year Capital Outlay Plan 
 
6.  Information Item 
 

A.  Facilities Planning Project Updates 
 

7.  Other Business 
 
8.  Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           MEMBERS 
Dr. Rani Whitfield – Chair, Mrs. Ann Smith- Vice-Chair,  

Atty. Jody Amedee, Mr. John Barthelemy, Dr. Leroy Davis,  
Mr. Richard Hilliard 

Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 

























FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 (following the Facilities and Property Committee) 

Friday, October 23, 2020 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments  
 
5.  Action Item(s):  
 

A.  Request approval for FY 2021-2022 Budget Requests and Addenda 
1. Southern University Board and System Administration (SUS) 
2. Southern University and A&M College (SUBR) 
3. Southern University Law Center (SULC) 
4. Southern University New Orleans Campus (SUNO) 
5. Southern University Shreveport Campus (SUSLA) 
6. Southern University Agricultural Research and Extension Center (SUAREC) 

 
6. Informational Item(s): 
  

A.  Interim Financial Report 
  

7.  Other Business 
 
8. Adjournment 
 
 
 

 
 
 

MEMBERS 
Atty. Ed Shorty- Chair, Mr. Richard Hilliard–Vice-Chair 

Dr. Curman L. Gaines, Dr. Leon Tarver, Mr. Sam Gilliam, Ms. Arlanda Williams, 
Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 43,442,284$        7,170,429$           36,271,855$        43,442,284$        -$                             16.5%

Statutory Dedicated 4,228,516             -                               4,228,516             4,228,516             -                               0.0%

Federal 3,654,209             406,158                 3,248,051             3,654,209             -                               11.1%

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 33,511,653           33,895,199           277,337                 34,172,536           660,883                 101.1%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 30,632,401           (37,670)                 29,926,545           29,888,875           (743,526)               -0.1%

    Tuition - Summer 7,200,528             (480,252)               7,459,101             6,978,849             (221,679)               -6.7%

    Out-of-State Fees 11,910,932           7,339,590             5,195,546             12,535,136           624,204                 61.6%

    Other 17,849,979           4,871,367             10,620,688           15,492,055           (2,357,924)           27.3%

Interagency Transfer 3,028,515             -                               3,534,400             3,534,400             505,885                 0.0%

Total Revenues 155,459,017$   53,164,821$      100,762,039$   153,926,860$   (1,532,157)$       34.2%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 74,712,941$        17,419,636$        58,101,853$        75,521,489$        808,548$              23.3%

  Other Compensation 319,377                 45,583                   273,794                 319,377                 -                               14.3%

  Related Benefits 34,139,650           6,767,620             27,680,554           34,448,174           308,524                 19.8%

Total Personal Services 109,171,968$   24,232,840$      86,056,200$      110,289,040$   1,117,072$         22.2%

  Travel 1,059,510             4,068                      839,030                 843,098                 (216,412)               0.4%

  Operating Services 14,339,492           2,836,653             10,493,414           13,330,067           (1,009,425)           19.8%

  Supplies 1,900,900             160,214                 1,207,454             1,367,668             (533,232)               8.4%

Total Operating Expenses 17,299,902$      3,000,934$         12,539,899$      15,540,833$      (1,759,069)$       17.3%

  Professional Services 2,544,772             240,728                 2,304,044             2,544,772             -                               9.5%

  Other Charges 10,714,822           22,408                   7,459,474             7,481,882             (3,232,940)           0.2%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 6,238,234             -                               6,238,234             6,238,234             -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 19,497,828$      263,136$             16,001,752$      16,264,888$      (3,232,940)$       1.3%

  General Acquisitions 785,382                 45,329                   727,053                 772,382                 (13,000)                 5.8%

  Library Acquisitions 562,649                 58,009                   504,640                 562,649                 -                               10.3%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 1,348,031$         103,338$             1,231,693$         1,335,031$         (13,000)$             7.7%

  Scholarships 8,141,288             5,445,043             5,052,025             10,497,068           2,355,780             66.9%

Total Expenditures 155,459,017$   33,045,291$      120,881,569$   153,926,860$   (1,532,157)$       21.3%

Southern University System

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 1



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 3,199,565$           726,177$              2,473,388$           3,199,565$           -$                             22.7%

Statutory Dedicated

Federal

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020

    Tuition - Spring 2021

    Tuition - Summer

    Out-of-State Fees

    Other

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 3,199,565$         726,177$             2,473,388$         3,199,565$         -$                            22.7%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 1,649,530$           400,516$              1,249,014$           1,649,530$           -$                             24.3%

  Other Compensation 88,000                   31,000                   57,000                   88,000                   -                               35.2%

  Related Benefits 769,942                 135,027                 634,915                 769,942                 -                               17.5%

Total Personal Services 2,507,472$         566,543$             1,940,929$         2,507,472$         -$                            29.2%

  Travel 185,000                 1,711                      183,289                 185,000                 -                               0.9%

  Operating Services 171,100                 16,981                   154,119                 171,100                 -                               9.9%

  Supplies 80,000                   27                            79,973                   80,000                   -                               0.0%

Total Operating Expenses 436,100$             18,719$               417,381$             436,100$             -$                            4.5%

  Professional Services 94,000                   -                               94,000                   94,000                   -                               0.0%

  Other Charges 136,993                 -                               136,993                 136,993                 -                               0.0%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers

Total Other Charges 230,993$             -$                            230,993$             230,993$             -$                            0.0%

  General Acquisitions 25,000                   -                               25,000                   25,000                   -                               0.0%

  Library Acquisitions

  Major Repairs

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 25,000$               -$                            25,000$               25,000$               -$                            0.0%

  Scholarships

Total Expenditures 3,199,565$         585,262$             2,614,303$         3,199,565$         -$                            22.4%

Southern University Board and System Administration

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 2



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 18,275,725$        2,851,470$           15,424,255$        18,275,725$        -$                             15.6%

Statutory Dedicated 1,593,248             -                               1,593,248             1,593,248             -                               0.0%

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 20,958,954           21,788,539           (212,986)               21,575,553           616,599                 104.0%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 18,863,468           (2,425)                    19,067,396           19,064,971           201,503                 0.0%

    Tuition - Summer 5,170,529             (773,431)               5,943,960             5,170,529             -                               -15.0%

    Out-of-State Fees 8,349,603             4,892,605             4,406,652             9,299,257             949,654                 58.6%

    Other 8,838,812             1,628,035             7,210,777             8,838,812             -                               18.4%

Interagency Transfer 3,028,515             -                               3,534,400             3,534,400             505,885                 0.0%

Total Revenues 85,078,854$      30,384,793$      56,967,702$      87,352,495$      2,273,641$         35.7%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 40,572,820$        9,491,322$           31,336,574$        40,827,896$        255,076$              23.4%

  Other Compensation 181,377                 -                               181,377                 181,377                 -                               0.0%

  Related Benefits 18,747,613           3,699,788             15,146,029           18,845,817           98,204                   19.7%

Total Personal Services 59,501,810$      13,191,110$      46,663,980$      59,855,090$      353,280$             22.2%

  Travel 288,210                 98                            100,000                 100,098                 (188,112)               0.0%

  Operating Services 7,662,277             1,738,876             5,977,130             7,716,006             53,729                   22.7%

  Supplies 915,911                 102,858                 389,389                 492,247                 (423,664)               11.2%

Total Operating Expenses 8,866,398$         1,841,832$         6,466,519$         8,308,351$         (558,047)$           20.8%

  Professional Services 1,126,480             -                               1,126,480             1,126,480             -                               0.0%

  Other Charges 3,805,700             30,378                   3,775,322             3,805,700             -                               0.8%

  Debt Services -                               

  Interagency Transfers 4,017,497             -                               4,017,497             4,017,497             -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 8,949,677$         30,378$               8,919,299$         8,949,677$         -$                            0.3%

  General Acquisitions 582,032                 45,329                   536,703                 582,032                 -                               7.8%

  Library Acquisitions 137,649                 -                               137,649                 137,649                 -                               0.0%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 719,681$             45,329$               674,352$             719,681$             -$                            6.3%

  Scholarships 7,041,288             5,077,171             4,442,525             9,519,696             2,478,408             72.1%

Total Expenditures 85,078,854$      20,185,820$      67,166,675$      87,352,495$      2,273,641$         23.7%

Southern University Baton Rouge Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 3



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 3,735,319$           616,538$              3,118,781$           3,735,319$           -$                             16.5%

Statutory Dedicated 172,939                 -                               172,939                 172,939                 -                               0.0%

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 3,823,146             4,586,938             4,586,938             763,792                 120.0%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 3,499,336             -                               3,499,336             3,499,336             -                               0.0%

    Tuition - Summer 700,000                 -                               700,000                 700,000                 -                               0.0%

    Out-of-State Fees 2,658,500             2,064,825             593,675                 2,658,500             -                               77.7%

    Other 3,286,762             1,824,451             1,462,311             3,286,762             -                               55.5%

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 17,876,002$      9,092,752$         9,547,042$         18,639,794$      763,792$             50.9%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 9,471,530$           2,336,050$           7,688,952$           10,025,002$        553,472$              24.7%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Related Benefits 3,609,686             754,053                 3,065,953             3,820,006             210,320                 20.9%

Total Personal Services 13,081,216$      3,090,103$         10,754,905$      13,845,008$      763,792$             23.6%

  Travel 385,000                 1,382                      383,618                 385,000                 -                               0.4%

  Operating Services 1,690,629             241,568                 1,449,061             1,690,629             -                               14.3%

  Supplies 250,000                 16,221                   233,779                 250,000                 -                               6.5%

Total Operating Expenses 2,325,629$         259,171$             2,066,458$         2,325,629$         -$                            11.1%

  Professional Services 1,220,590             219,285                 1,001,305             1,220,590             -                               18.0%

  Other Charges 432,027                 -                               432,027                 432,027                 -                               0.0%

  Debt Services -                               -                          -                               -                               

  Interagency Transfers 366,540                 -                               366,540                 366,540                 -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 2,019,157$         219,285$             1,799,872$         2,019,157$         -$                            10.9%

  General Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Library Acquisitions 250,000                 58,009                   191,991                 250,000                 -                               23.2%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 250,000$             58,009$               191,991$             250,000$             -$                            23.2%

  Scholarships 200,000                 162,767                 37,233                   200,000                 -                               81.4%

Total Expenditures 17,876,002$      3,789,335$         14,850,459$      18,639,794$      763,792$             21.2%

Southern University Law Center

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 4



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 8,158,721$           1,346,649$           6,812,072$           8,158,721$           -$                             16.5%

Statutory Dedicated 502,799                 -                               502,799                 502,799                 -                               0.0%

Federal -                               -                               -                               

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 4,851,700             4,118,464             490,323                 4,608,787             (242,913)               84.9%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 4,577,842             (35,245)                 4,193,058             4,157,813             (420,029)               -0.8%

    Tuition - Summer 429,999                 (13,734)                 365,141                 351,407                 (78,592)                 -3.2%

    Out-of-State Fees 352,829                 232,610                 120,219                 352,829                 -                               65.9%

    Other 4,735,175             1,405,241             1,447,600             2,852,841             (1,882,334)           29.7%

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 23,609,065$      7,053,986$         13,931,211$      20,985,197$      (2,623,868)$       29.9%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 10,111,886$        2,204,741$           7,907,145$           10,111,886$        -$                             21.8%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Related Benefits 4,740,079             975,140$              3,764,939$           4,740,079             -                               20.6%

Total Personal Services 14,851,965$      3,179,881$         11,672,084$      14,851,965$      -$                            21.4%

  Travel 37,000                   -                               37,000                   37,000                   -                               0.0%

  Operating Services 2,285,294             372,602                 1,912,692             2,285,294             -                               16.3%

  Supplies 285,500                 17,710                   267,790                 285,500                 -                               6.2%

Total Operating Expenses 2,607,794$         390,312$             2,217,482$         2,607,794$         -$                            15.0%

  Professional Services -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

  Other Charges 4,268,732             3,615                      1,641,249             1,644,864             (2,623,868)           0.1%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 1,105,574             -                               1,105,574             1,105,574             -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 5,374,306$         3,615$                  2,746,823$         2,750,438$         (2,623,868)$       0.1%

  General Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Library Acquisitions 175,000                 175,000                 175,000                 -                               0.0%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 175,000$             -$                            175,000$             175,000$             -$                            0.0%

  Scholarships 600,000                 127,733                 472,267                 600,000                 -                               21.3%

Total Expenditures 23,609,065$      3,701,541$         17,283,656$      20,985,197$      (2,623,868)$       15.7%

Southern University New Orleans Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 5



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 5,158,497$           818,432$              4,340,065$           5,158,497$           -$                             15.9%

Statutory Dedicated 162,060                 -                               162,060                 162,060                 -                               0.0%

Federal

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020 3,877,853             3,401,258             -                               3,401,258             (476,595)               87.7%

    Tuition - Spring 2021 3,691,755             3,166,755             3,166,755             (525,000)               0.0%

    Tuition - Summer 900,000                 306,913                 450,000                 756,913                 (143,087)               34.1%

    Out-of-State Fees 550,000                 149,550                 75,000                   224,550                 (325,450)               27.2%

    Other 989,230                 13,640                   500,000                 513,640                 (475,590)               1.4%

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 15,329,395$      4,689,793$         8,693,880$         13,383,673$      (1,945,722)$       30.6%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 7,477,302$           1,796,044$           5,681,258$           7,477,302$           -$                             24.0%

  Other Compensation -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Related Benefits 3,693,095             790,892                 2,902,203             3,693,095             -                               21.4%

Total Personal Services 11,170,397$      2,586,936$         8,583,461$         11,170,397$      -$                            23.2%

  Travel 43,300                   -                               15,000                   15,000                   (28,300)                 0.0%

  Operating Services 2,186,888             289,687                 834,047                 1,123,734             (1,063,154)           13.2%

  Supplies 145,200                 20,632                   15,000                   35,632                   (109,568)               14.2%

Total Operating Expenses 2,375,388$         310,319$             864,047$             1,174,366$         (1,201,022)$       13.1%

  Professional Services 59,500                   17,443                   42,057                   59,500                   -                               29.3%

  Other Charges 647,487                 (11,585)                 50,000                   38,415                   (609,072)               -1.8%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers 748,623                 -                               748,623                 748,623                 -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 1,455,610$         5,858$                  840,680$             846,538$             (609,072)$           0.4%

  General Acquisitions 28,000                   -                               15,000                   15,000                   (13,000)                 0.0%

  Library Acquisitions -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

  Major Repairs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 28,000$               -$                            15,000$               15,000$               (13,000)$             0.0%

  Scholarships 300,000                 77,372                   100,000                 177,372                 (122,628)               25.8%

Total Expenditures 15,329,395$      2,980,485$         10,403,188$      13,383,673$      (1,945,722)$       19.4%
   

Southern University Shreveport Campus

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

 The Southern University Shreveport Campus have allocated $2.6 million in CARES Act funds to ensure the budget remains balanced and operations 
continue. The University plans to utilize CARES  Act funds to cover expenses for other charges and operations.

Page 6



FY21 Budget Actual Projected Total FY21

Over/(Under) 

Budget

% Actual 

to Budget

Revenues

General Fund Direct 4,914,457$           811,163$              4,103,294$           4,914,457$           -$                             16.5%

Statutory Dedicated 1,797,470             1,797,470             1,797,470             -                               0.0%

Federal 3,654,209             406,158                 3,248,051             3,654,209             -                               11.1%

Self Generated

    Tuition - Fall 2020

    Tuition - Spring 2021

    Tuition - Summer

    Out-of-State Fees

    Other

Interagency Transfer

Total Revenues 10,366,136$      1,217,321$         9,148,815$         10,366,136$      -$                            11.7%

Expenditures 

  Salaries 5,429,873$           1,190,963$           4,238,910$           5,429,873$           -$                             21.9%

  Other Compensation 50,000                   14,583                   35,417                   50,000                   -                               29.2%

  Related Benefits 2,579,235             412,720                 2,166,515             2,579,235             -                               16.0%

Total Personal Services 8,059,108$         1,618,267$         6,440,841$         8,059,108$         -$                            20.1%

  Travel 121,000                 877                         120,123                 121,000                 -                               0.7%

  Operating Services 343,304                 176,938                 166,366                 343,304                 -                               51.5%

  Supplies 224,289                 2,767                      221,522                 224,289                 -                               1.2%

Total Operating Expenses 688,593$             180,581$             508,012$             688,593$             -$                            26.2%

  Professional Services 44,202                   4,000                      40,202                   44,202                   -                               9.0%

  Other Charges 1,423,883             -                               1,423,883             1,423,883             -                               0.0%

  Debt Services

  Interagency Transfers -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

Total Other Charges 1,468,085$         4,000$                  1,464,085$         1,468,085$         -$                            0.3%

  General Acquisitions 150,350                 -                               150,350                 150,350                 -                               0.0%

  Library Acquisitions

  Major Repairs -                               

Total Acquisitions/Major Repairs 150,350$             -$                            150,350$             150,350$             -$                            0.0%

  Scholarships

Total Expenditures 10,366,136$      1,802,848$         8,563,288$         10,366,136$      -$                            17.4%

Southern University Agricultural Research and Extension Center

General Operating Budget Financial Statement 

For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021

As of  September 30, 2020

Page 7





GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 (following the Finance Committee) 

Friday, October 23, 2020 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 

 

AGENDA 

 

1.  Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3.  Adoption of the Agenda 
 
4.  Public Comments 
 
5. Action Items  
  

A. Request Approval to Extend COVID-19 Special Grading Policy to 2020-2021 
Academic Year (SUS) 
 

B. Request Approval of Southern University System Drug-Free Policy (SUS) 
 

6.  Other Business 
 
7.  Adjournment 

 

 

 

 
 

MEMBERS 
Mr. Sam Gilliam- Chair, Dr. Leon R. Tarver–Vice-Chair, 

Atty. Jody Amedee, Atty. Patrick Magee,  
Dr. Curman L. Gaines, Rev. Samuel C. Tolbert 

Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 





1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
POLICY TITLE 

Drug Free Workplace and Environment 
 

POLICY NUMBER 
7-001 

 
Responsible Unit:  
Southern System Office of Human Resources 
 
Responsible Official: 
Associate Vice President for Human Resources 
 
Policy Classification: 
Human Resources 

Effective Date: 
10/23/2020 
 
Last Reviewed Date: 
 
 
Origination Date:  
1998 

 
I. POLICY STATEMENT AND RATIONALE 
 
Recognizing that drug use poses health and safety hazards to employees/students and to the 
community at large, Southern University and A & M System considers the abuse of drugs to be a 
very serious matter, one that cannot be tolerated in the workplace or classroom. Therefore, it is 
the policy of the Southern University and A & M System to maintain a drug free workplace and 
environment conducive to the learning process.  
 
II. POLICY SCOPE AND AUDIENCE 

 
This policy applies to all System employees, appointees and students, as well as candidates for 
employment, appointees, and all other persons having an employment relationship with the 
System.  This includes but are not limited to classified, unclassified, student employees, student 
interns, full-time, part-time or temporary. 
 
All employees are notified that it is unlawful to manufacture distribute, dispense, possess, or use 
any illegal or unauthorized drugs or alcohol or to abuse controlled substances in the workplace 
and classroom or other related areas associated with the learning process including dormitories. 
Such actions are prohibited on all System property and at any other location where employees 
are conducting System business. 
 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

III. POLICY COMPLIANCE 
 

1. All System employees are expected to comply with the policy’s terms.  An employee 
who violates this Policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination.  The disciplinary actions may include but not limited to counseling, written 
or oral reprimands, or suspensions with or without pay in accordance with the established 
rights of the employee including the right to due process. All System employees paid by a 
grant or work under the terms of a grant from Federal government agency shall as a 
condition of employment be required to: 

a. Acknowledge receipt of and comply with the terms of the System’s drug-free 
policy; 

b. Report to work in a condition that maximizes your ability to perform assigned 
tasks in a competent and safe manner. Employees are prohibited from reporting 
to work impaired by alcohol or drugs; and  

c. Submit to a drug and alcohol test upon request by the appointing authority, 
his/her designee, or as specified by this policy. 

2. System employees will be required to notify their supervisor, prior to or immediately 
upon reporting for duty, when he/she has reason to believe that prescribed or over the 
counter medication may impair his ability to perform customary job duties or otherwise 
create a safety hazard. Even though the employee will be required to report how long 
he/she is on the medication, employees should know that it is not necessary to disclose 
the medication being taken nor the condition for which it was prescribed.  

3. System employees will be required to notify his/her supervisor on the first scheduled 
workday of any arrest or conviction for a criminal, drug related offense which occurs on 
or off duty, including Driving While Intoxicated (DWI) arrests and convictions; 

4. When the supervisor is notified as described in #3, the supervisor will notify HR and any 
granting agency within ten (10) days of receiving the notice.  

5. When the supervisor is notified of a conviction as listed in #3, within thirty (30) days of 
receiving such notice, the supervisor shall: 

a. Notify Human Resources to impose disciplinary action up to and including 
termination; or, 

b. Require the employee to satisfactorily complete a drug abuse assistance or 
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local 
health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency.  

6. Civil Service employees will be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with Civil 
Service Rules Chapter 12 and the System’s Policies and Procedures. Each violation and 
alleged violation of this Policy will be handled on an individual basis, considering all 
data, including the risk to self, fellow employees, students and the general public. The 
Appointing Authority may grant exceptions to this Policy for rational business reasons. 

7. Any grant’s principal investigator, project, or contract from a Federal agency is required 
to ensure that each employee working on grant be given a copy of this Policy and be 
required to acknowledge receipt of the policy.  

8. System employees will not be allowed on System property and at any other location 
where employees are conducting System business under the influence of drugs, alcohol, 
or any abused controlled substance. 
 

 



3 | P a g e  
 

 
IV. POLICY DEFINITIONS 
 

1. Drug – any substance which when inhaled, injected, consumed, or introduced into the 
body in any manner, alters mood or function. Includes any illegal drugs, legal drugs, 
prescription drugs not being used in accordance with the prescription or in excess of the 
prescription; or any substance which affects the employee abilities. 

2. Drug Abuse – any continuing use of an illegal or unauthorized drugs, alcohol, or 
controlled substance which produces problems for the user, his/her family or society at 
large. 

3. Unlawful Manufacture – to unlawfully plant, cultivate, harvest, process, make, prepare, 
or otherwise engage in any part of the production of a drug by propagation, extraction, 
chemical synthesis, compounding, or any combination of the same and includes 
packaging, repackaging, labeling, and other activities incidental to production. 

4. Distribute – to deal in, ship, transport or deliver. This does not include the administering 
or dispensing of a drug by a person authorized or qualified to do so (i.e. physician, 
pharmacist, etc.) 

5. Dispense – to sell, leave with, give away, dispose of, or deliver. 
6. Possess or Possession – having control over a thing or substance. Possession may not be 

inferred solely from mere access to the thing or substance through ownership or 
occupation of the premises upon which the thing or substance is found. 

7. Use – the taking, partaking or utilizing of a drug or other controlled substance. 
8. Drug Abuse Offense – corrupting another with drugs, trafficking in drugs, abusing drugs 

(including abuse of alcohol), possessing drug abuse instruments, permitting a dangerous 
drug, processing drug documents illegally, abusing harmful intoxicants, or dispensing 
drug samples illegally; violating any state or federal law that is substantially equivalent to 
any of the above offenses; violating any  state law in which planting, cultivating, 
harvesting, processing, making, manufacturing, producing, shipping, transporting, 
delivering, acquiring, possessing, storing, distributing, dispensing, selling.  

9. Controlled Substance - a drug, compound, mixture, preparation, or other substance as 
defined in 40:961 to 40:995 of the Louisiana Revised Code, or as defined by applicable 
statutes of other states and the Federal government. 

10. Reasonable Suspicion – a belief based on objective and documented facts to lead a 
prudent System authorized supervisor to suspect that employee is using drugs or alcohol. 

11. NON-DOT Safety Sensitive Position – Contract positions in which job performance can 
affect the safety, security or national security of the employee or others. 

12. NON-DOT employee pool – any individuals who will be considered purchased service 
for contracted requirements. 

 
V. POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PROCEDURES 
 
The System authorized supervisor has the right to conduct on the spot searches and inspections 
of employees and their personal effects as described above if said supervisor has a "reasonable 
suspicion” or the employees are in violation of this policy. 

 
1. Drug Testing Searches and inspections under this Policy may also include unannounced 

Urine Drug Screening. This test may be used under the following circumstances:  



4 | P a g e  
 

a. For pre-employment examinations. 
 

b. When an authorized System supervisor has a reasonable suspicion or just cause that 
an employee/student is intoxicated, using or under the influence of controlled drugs. 
 

c. When an employee/student is found in possession of a suspected controlled substance 
or a controlled substance is found in an area controlled by the employee/student. 
 

d. Following a serious accident or incident in which safety precautions were violated or 
careless acts were performed. 

 
2. Drug Testing for NON-DOT Safety Sensitive Positions 

a. Pre-employment: All candidates for NON-DOT safety sensitive positions must submit to pre-
employment testing as a condition of employment. Negative results must be received prior to 
hire, transfer, or assignment to any safety-sensitive job. 
 

b. Reasonable Suspicion: Employees will be subject to reasonable suspicion drug and/or 
alcohol testing if a manger observes physical or behavioral indicators of potential 
drug or alcohol impairment. Employees is lab based and employees will be removed 
from service and provided transportation pending results. 
 

c. Random: Employees who perform safety sensitive job duties as defined above will be 
subject to random NON-DOT Breath Alcohol & NON-DOT Drug Testing. 
 

d. Post-Accident: Employees must undergo drug and/or alcohol testing when an 
accident or incident has occurred. 
 

e. Return-to-duty/Follow-up: Employees eligible to return to work following a drug free 
workplace program violation, will be required to pass a return to duty drug and/or 
alcohol test before being allowed to return to work. Once returned to work, they will 
be subject to unannounced follow-up testing. 

 
VI. POLICY RELATED INFORMATION  
 
The System, in adopting and implementing this policy pursuant to the Drug Free Workplace Act 
of 1988, further certifies that it will make a good faith effort to maintain a drug-free workplace 
and to respect the privacy rights of its employees. Drug Testing pursuant to this Policy shall be 
for the presence of drugs in accordance with La. R.S. 49:1001, et seq. All drug testing and all 
drug testing of samples shall be performed in SAMHSA-certified or CAP-FUDT-certified 
laboratories. 
 
VII. POLICY HISTORY AND REVIEW CYCLE 
 
This is an existing policy that was last reviewed in 1998. This policy is subject to a five-year Policy 
Review Cycle. 
 
 



5 | P a g e  
 

VIII. POLICY URL 
 
The information regarding the Drug Free Workplace and Environment Policy will be posted to the 
System Board’s website under Board Policies at www.sus.edu. 
 
IX. POLICY APPROVAL   
 
The effective date of this policy is determined by the approval date of the President-Chancellor of 
the Southern System and A&M College System and the Board of Supervisors of the Southern 
System and A&M College System. 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________           _________________________ 
Ray L. Belton, Ph.D.         Effective Date of Policy  
President-Chancellor, Southern System and A&M College System 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________________             ________________________ 
The Honorable Attorney Domoine D. Rutledge   Effective Date of Policy  
Chair - Southern System Board of Supervisors                                    
 
 
 
 

http://www.sus.edu/




PERSONNEL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
(Following Governance Committee) 

Friday, October 23, 2020 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call

3. Adoption of the Agenda

4. Public Comments

5. Action Items

A. Request Approval of Personnel Action on Positions equal to or greater than $60,000
Name Position/Campus Salary Funding Source 

1. Marina Biragova Executive Director – SULC Technology & 
Entrepreneurship Clinic 

(Salary Adjustment) 
SULC 

$66,000.00 State 

2. Taisheika Davis Director of Financial Aid 
(New Appointment) 

SUBR 

$85,000.00 State 

3. Darrin Dixon Director of 
Small Business Development Center 

(New Appointment) 
SUSLA 

$90,000.00 State 

4. Latonya Wright Interim Director of Records and Registration 
(Interim Appointment) 

SULC 

$79,275.00 State 

6. Request Approval of Extended Medical Leave- August 11, 2020 through December 31, 2020 – Ms.
D’Andrea Lee (SULC)

7. Request Approval for Extended Annual Leave- Dr. Cheryl Taylor – SU School of Nursing (SUBR)**
(**denotes executive session may be required)

8. Other Business

9. Adjournment
MEMBERS 

Atty. Patrick Magee–Chair, Mr. John Barthelemy–Vice Chair, Dr. Curman L. Gaines, 
Mr. Sam Gilliam, Dr. Leon R. Tarver, Ms. Arlanda Williams 

Atty. Domoine D. Rutledge- Ex Officio 















































































SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING 
(following Personnel Affairs Committee) 

Friday, October 23, 2020 
Smith-Brown Student Union 

Cotillion Ball Room 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Call to Order  

2. Roll Call 

3. Adoption of the Agenda 

4. Public Comments 

5. Special Presentation: 

A. Above and Beyond Award 

B. Ray Smith Memorial Fund  

6. Action Item(s): 

A. Request Approval of the Minutes from September 25, 2020 meeting of the Board of 
Supervisors 
 

B. Request Approval of MOU between the Southern University Law Center 
Technology & Entrepreneurship Clinic and the University of New Orleans Urban 
Entrepreneurship & Policy Institute (SULC) 
 

C. Request Approval of MOU between the Southern University Law Center 
Technology & Entrepreneurship Clinic and Southern University New Orleans 
through its Small Business Development & Management Institute (SULC/SUNO) 
 

D. Request Approval of MOU between Synchronicity Unlimited, LLC and the Southern 
University Law Center (SULC)  
 

E. Request approval of MOU between SINOMO JV, Southern University Law Center 
and the Southern University College of Business (SULC/SUBR) 
 



F. Request approval of MOU between the National Wildlife Federation and the 
Southern University Law Center (SULC) 
 

G. Request Approval of Authority to enter into a Cooperative Endeavor Agreement 
with the Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development (SUBR) 

 
H. Request approval for the President and legal counsel to negotiate and execute, with 

the Chairman’s concurrence, an opt-in provision in a previously executed Cooperative 
Endeavor Agreement between LA Energy Partners, LLC and the State of Louisiana 
through the Division of  Administration to provide thermal energy services for the 
Baton Rouge landmass (SUBR) 
 

I. Request Approval of 2019-2020 Evaluation of SU Campus Chancellors** 
(**denotes executive session may be required) 

 
7. Informational Items 

 
A. Legislative Update 

B. Medical Marijuana Update 

C. President’s Report 

D. Chancellor’s Reports  

8. Resolutions 

9. Other Business 

10. Adjournment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

**The Board of Supervisors for the Southern University System may meet in executive session to discuss matters 
under the provisions of Louisiana Revised Statue 42:17. 



1 | P a g e  
 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING 
Committee of the Whole – Virtual Meeting 

Friday, September 25, 2020 
9:00 a.m. 

 
Minutes 

 
 

The virtual Committee as a Whole meeting of the Southern University Board of Supervisors 
was called to order by board Chairman Atty. Domoine Rutledge.  
 
The Invocation was given by Rev. Samuel Tolbert, Jr.   
 
Roll Call by Dr. Ray Belton.  
 
Present:  Chairman Atty. Domoine Rutledge, Rev. Samuel C. Tolbert, Atty. Jody Amedee, 
Mr. John Barthelemy, Dr. Leroy Davis, Mr. Raymond Fondel, Jr., Dr. Curman Gaines, Mr.  
Bakari Garvey, Mr. Sam Gilliam, Mr. Richard Hilliard, Atty. Patrick Magee, Atty. Edwin 
Shorty, Ms. Ann Smith, Dr. Leon Tarver II, and Mrs. Arlanda Williams.            
 
Absent: Dr. Rani Whitfield 
 
Agenda Item 3:  ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA – Chairman Rutledge asked for 
adoption of the agenda.      
Upon the motion by Atty. Edwin Shorty to adopt the agenda, the motion was seconded by 
Mr. John Barthelemy.  Adoption approved.     
 
Agenda Item 4:  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
None 
  
Agenda Item 5:  ACTION ITEM(s):  
 
Dr. Leon Tarver made a motion to approve Action Items 5A (1-2) globally and Rev. Samuel 
Tolbert second the motion. 
Motion approved. 
 

A. Request Approval of Meeting Minutes  
1. Regular Meeting of the SU Board of Supervisors – August 21, 2020 
 

2. Special Meeting of the SU Board of Supervisors- September 11, 2020 
 
Chairman Rutledge asked Chancellor Rodney Ellis to discuss Action Items 5B – 5E 
globally.  Chancellor Ellis summarized each item and noted additional detail is provided in 
board packet (see board packet copy) Dr. Ellis asked if there were any questions.   



2 | P a g e  
 

Rev. Samuel Tolbert asked, “if courses will be offered online?”  Dr. Ellis said, “yes all the 
courses are set up to be offered as online courses and if not, they would develop it to be 
online.  
Mr. Sam Gilliam complimented Dr. Ellis and his staff. 
 
There were no additional comments or questions.   
 
Mr. Sam Gilliam made a motion to approve Action Items 5B – 5E globally and Rev. Samuel 
Tolbert second the motion.   
Motion approved. 
 

B. Request Approval to Establish an Associate of Applied Science in  
Engineering Technology (SUSLA) 

 
C. Request Approval to Establish a Certificate of Technical Study: Petroleum  

Technology (SUSLA) 
 

D. Request Approval to Establish a Certificate of Technical Study: Airframe    
Technology (SUSLA) 

 
E. Request Approval to Establish Certificate of Technical Study: Power Plant  

Maintenance Technology (SUSLA) 
 
 Chairman Atty Rutledge asked Chancellor Orlando McMeans to discuss Action Item 5F.  

Chancellor McMeans mentioned, “he is requesting the approval of the College of 
Agricultural, Family and Consumer Sciences Logo to be used to promote the College, its 
programs and community.  In addition, it will be used for marketing and recruiting.  He 
mentioned “this is part of our re-branding process” 
There were no questions. 
Rev. Tolbert made a motion to approve Action Item 5F and Dr. Leroy Davis second the 
motion. 
Motion approved.  
 

F. Request Approval of the College of Agricultural, Family and Consumer Sciences  
New Logo (SUAREC) 

 
Chairman Atty Rutledge asked Chancellor John Pierre to discuss Action Items 5G – 5H 
globally.  Chancellor Pierre discussed each item in detail.  He discussed the Strategic 
Leadership Institute which is “scheduled to begin on September 28, 2020 and conclude on 
November 9, 2020.  Featured presenters include Ambassador James A. Joseph, Retired 
Lieutenant General Russel L. Honore, and Dr. John Sibley Butler.  The Law Center and the 
College of Business seek approval to create and establish a SU Strategic Leadership Institute 
(SUSLI). The need for the institute is based upon the fact that leadership plays a vital, if not 



3 | P a g e  
 

most important role in the achievement of organizational excellence, especially during 
uncertain and turbulent times.” 
Chancellor Pierre also discussed the Common Law track and he is requesting authorization 
to create a common law track for the Southern University Law Center which will require 
that the Law Center make curricular changes and adjustments that allows the Law Center to 
more appropriately serve its growing student constituency from outside of Louisiana.” 
 
Dr Tarver “asked if the Leadership Institute was restricted to Law and Business.”  
Chancellor Pierre said, “no it isn’t restricted, anyone can register who are interested.”  
Chancellor Pierre gave details of the executive public policy PhD program/law center 
involvement and their partnership.   
Chairman Atty Rutledge commented on the executive public policy program and how 
popular it is.  He mentioned they may have to expand access to the program in the future.   
 
Chairman Atty Rutledge asked were there any additional questions for Chancellor Pierre?  
There were no additional questions or comments.   
Mr. Bakari Garvey made a motion to approve action items 5G-5H globally and Mrs. Ann 
Smith second the motion.  Motion Approved. 
 

G. Request Approval of the Southern University Strategic Leadership Institute  
(SULC / SUBR) 

 
H. Request Authorization to create a Common Law Track for the Southern      

University Law Center (SULC) 
 

Dr. Ammons is requesting authorization and authorization to enter in a Cooperative 
Resolution with the City of New Orleans with regards to a grant awarded to SUNO in the 
amount $100,000 from the Edward Wisner Donation Fund.  These funds are to support the 
School of Social Work.  They will be used by faculty to enhance the education of the 
students through service as social workers-in-training to families and children of the New 
Orleans Community.    
There were no questions or comments.   
Atty Edwin Shorty made a motion to approve action item 5I and Dr. Leroy Davis second 
the motion.  Motion Approved.   
 

I. Request Approval and Authorization to enter in a Cooperative Resolution with the 
City of New Orleans (SUNO) 

 
Chairman Atty Rutledge mentioned there was a guest today and he asked Dr. Belton to 
introduced Mr. Adam Knapp.  Dr. Belton introduced Mr. Adam Knapp who is the president 
and CEO of the Baton Rouge Area Chamber.  Dr. Belton mentioned he and Mr. Knapp 
discussed entering into an agreement to form a collaboration between Baton Rouge Area 
Chamber (BRAC) and Southern University and A&M College (SU).  He discussed the 
MOU is between BRAC and SU and it is intended to increase retention of students and 



4 | P a g e  
 

graduates of SU in the Baton Rouge area through internships and entry-level job placement 
in conjunction with use of the talent recruiting platform that SU utilizes, Handshake.   
He discussed each parties’ roles and responsibilities and asked Mr. Knapp to offer 
comments.  Mr. Knapp thanked Chairman Rutledge and the board as well as Dr. Belton for 
allowing him to attend the meeting. He gave context for Metro Baton Rouge Talent and 
thanked Dr. Belton for partnering with BRAC.  Chairman Rutledge asked if there were any    
questions.  There were no questions or comments. 
Chairman Atty Rutledge thanked Mr. Knapp for being on the call today.   
Rev. Samuel Tolbert made a motion to approve action item 5J and Dr. Leon Tarver second 
the motion.  Motion Approved.   

 
J. Request Approval of MOU between Southern University at Baton Rouge and  

the Baton Rouge Area Chamber for the Handshake Initiative to promote Retention 
and Job Placement for Students and Graduates (SUBR) 

   
 Dr. Leroy Davis made a motion to approve action items 5K and 5L globally and Mr.  
 John Barthelemy second the motion.  Motion Approved. 

 
K. Request Approval of the Southern University Board of Supervisors 2020 Self-

Evaluation (per SACSCOC 4.2g) 
 

L. Request Approval of the Southern University Board of Supervisors 2020 Conflict 
of Interest Disclosure (per SACSCOC 4.2d) 

Dr. Belton requested Dr. Appeaning give an efficient overview of the scorecard assessment 
data by campus.   
Dr. Appeaning thank the Board of Supervisors for their attention and recap items 5K and 
5L.  He mentions that “Ms. Tracey Taylor-Jarrell has emailed the 2020 Self Evaluation and 
Conflict of Interest Disclosure forms to each of them and they are to complete the forms 
and return them to Ms. Taylor-Jarrell by next Tuesday, September 29, 2020.” 
Dr. Appeaning discussed the scorecard assessment data by campus and mentioned the 
detailed report for each campus was included in the board packet.  (see packet for details) 
There were no questions or comments. 
Dr. Leroy Davis made a motion to approve action item 5M and Ms. Ann Smith second the 
motion.  Motion Approved.  
 

M.  Request Approval of the Scorecard Assessment Data by Campus (Year 2 Annual 
Accountability Per SACSCOC Standard 7.1) 

 

1. Southern University at Baton Rouge 

2. Southern University at New Orleans 

3. Southern University at Shreveport 

4. Southern University Law Center  

5. Southern University Agricultural Research and Extension Center  



5 | P a g e  
 

 

Chairman Atty Rutledge mentioned there should be a salary amendment for item 5N-7.  The 
salary should be $121,500.00.   
Rev. Samuel Tolbert made a motion to approve action Item 5N with salary amendment and 
Mrs. Ann Smith second the motion.  Motion Approved.  

 

N. Request Approval of Personnel Actions for Positions equal to or Greater than 
$60,000 
 

Name Position/Campus Salary Funding Source 
1. Charletta Fortson Instructor and Common Law Bar Exam Program Director 

(Additional Duties) 
SULC 

$90,000.00 Federal 

2. Teresa Hardee Interim Vice-Chancellor of Finance and Administration 
(Salary Adjustment) 
SUNO 

$164,000.00 State 

3. Dorothy Straughter-Parker ADA Coordinator/Health, Wellness and Disability 
Service Director 
(Additional Duties) 
SULC 

$72,000.00 State 

4. Dawn Mellion-Patin Extension Specialist 
(Title Change) 
SUAREC 

$135,200.00 Federal  

5. Greg Sergienko  Associate Vice Chancellor of Academic Affairs 
(New Appointment) 
SULC 

$150,000.00 Federal 

6. Rahim A. Smith Academic Support Counselor / Instructor / Managing 
Fellow for the Mixed Reality Virtual Innovation Gaming 
and Electronic Sports Institute 
(Additional Duties) 
SULC 

$87,000.00 Federal 

7. De’Shoin York Interim Vice-Chancellor for Extension and Outreach 
(Interim Appointment) 
SUAREC 

$135,200.00 
$121,500.00 

Federal 

 

Public Comments: 
Name: Dr. Mostafa Elaasar 
Email Address: melaasar@suno.edu 
Department: Natural Sciences 
Summary of Public Comment: I have no problem with Dr. Hardee getting raise. She works very hard and 
she should be compensated. By the same token, the faculty at SUNO are working hard and we should be 
compensated accordingly. We have not received in raises for the last 10 years. 
 
 
 
 

mailto:melaasar@suno.edu


6 | P a g e  
 

 
Name: Cynthia Ramirez 
Email Address: cramirez@suno.edu 
Department: Faculty Senate 
Summary of Public Comment: I am addressing action item 5 N. As the Faculty Senate President, I would 
like to seriously address the pay increase for the Faculty at Southern University at New Orleans. Since it 
seems that we are no longer in financial straights, as evident in the pay increase of the Interim Vice 
Chancellor of Finance and Administration, The Faculty have not had a pay increase since 2007. The Board 
had voted to give the faculty a pay increase previously but SUNO's financial problem prohibited this. That 
is not the issue now, so please implement the pay raises as quickly just as the increase in salary for on 
administrative position has been pushed through. Thank you. 
 

Name: Shatiqua Wilson 
Email Address: swilson@suno.edu 
Department: Library 
Summary of Public Comment: This is a public comment about SUNO.  Why are we not informed of board 
meetings?  This current meeting included important details affecting us and we were not informed.  We 
had to google and search to find this meeting link via YouTube. 
 
Chairman Rutledge acknowledged all public comments.  As for the public comments inquiring about 
board meetings, he referenced them to the SUS website – Board of Supervisor tab and click on Calendar.  
All meeting dates information is listed on the calendar tab.   
 

Chairman Atty Rutledge mentioned Chancellor Pierre is requesting credit for prior service 
by Marc Roark and Kenya Smith.   

Rev. Tolbert mentioned the years for Kenya Smith is six years per information in packet.  
Chancellor Pierre confirmed six years when providing information on both individuals.   

There were no questions or comments.   

Mrs. Ann Smith made a motion to approve action item 5O with amendment and Mr. John 
Barthelemy second the motion.  Motion Approved.  

O.  Request Approval for Credit for Prior Employment Service (SULC) 
1. Marc Roark (11-years of service) 

2. Kenya Smith (4 6-years of service) 

P. Request Authorization to Initiate a Focused Search for the Chancellor of Southern 
University at New Orleans (SUS) 

 
Public Comments: 
Name: Shatiqua Wilson 
Email Address: swilson@suno.edu 
Department: Library 
Summary of Public Comment: I request that All Deans and Directors at SUNO be allowed to be a lead part 
of the search process for Chancellor. 

mailto:cramirez@suno.edu
mailto:swilson@suno.edu
mailto:swilson@suno.edu


7 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
Name: Cynthia Ramirez 
Email Address: cramirez@suno.edu 
Department: Faculty Senate 
Summary of Public Comment: My name is Cynthia Ramirez, the newly elected Faculty Senate President. I 
am addressing action item P.  The request to expedite the search for a permanent Chancellor at SUNO. I 
agree with the urgency of the search because of SACSCOC concerns; however, I want to make sure 
Faculty and Staff have a role in this process. Thank you. 
 
Chairman Rutledge acknowledge the public comment prior to discussion of action item 5P.   
 
Mr. John Barthelemy made a motion to approve action item 5P and Ms. Arlanda Williams second 
the motion.   
There was a question before voting from Atty Edwin Shorty.  He asked “what does Focus Search 
Mean and what is the difference in a focus search and a national search?  He asked if the time was 
shorter and does it mean a thorough and comprehensive search won’t be done?  
Dr. Belton stated, “a focused search is one wherein the Board of Supervisors grants authorization 
to the Administration to appoint a designated person or entity to seek out and encourage specific 
(or targeted) individuals with appropriate credentials to submit application(s) for consideration for 
employment.  The request comes seeking he and his administration authorization to proceed in a 
more deliberative and focused manner.  During the focused search process, the administration will 
incorporate opportunities for community and stakeholder engagement to identify candidates who 
are highly qualified and possess attributes which align with the leadership model at SUNO.  I ensure 
this is an efficient and productive process” Dr. Belton went on to discuss the national search is a 
long process and there must be a stable leadership as early as Spring 2021.”  
Atty Shorty is concerned about the fairness to SUNO.  He would like to see what has done in the 
past and he want to make sure the best candidate is chosen to fulfill the position.  To choose the 
best candidate, He do not want to rush the search. 
Chairman Rutledge commented, “we have done both national and focus search in the past.  National 
search is a large committee of people and it is a long process.  Based on the SACCOC request, the 
Chancellor should be in position by the Spring, so we have to get moving on the process.” 
Ms. Ann Smith asked, “if there is a difference in the cost for National search and focus search?” 
Yes, there is a cost difference. 
Dr. Leroy Davis mentioned “he is concerned there will be folks who are interested from all over.  
He has been on different focus search committees and they have been conducted differently based 
on interest/philosophy of person conducting the search.  He is requesting Dr. Belton to submit a 
plan to the board members of how he will conduct the search.  He is proposing he submit the plan 
in two weeks.”   Chairman Rutledge agreed. 
Ms. Arlanda Williams asked, “when was the last focus search done for chancellor position?”   
Dr. Belton and Dr. Tarver commented.   
Attorney Shorty said he would be comfortable if the president will give plan as to how he will do 
the search.  He wants to know that the community is involved.   

Dr. Belton agreed he could provide the plan.   

mailto:cramirez@suno.edu


8 | P a g e  
 

Chairman Rutledge said he would like to now have a Motion to authorize the executive search – 
with three parameters 1 - solicit candidates nationally, 2 – Involve the community, staff, and 
administration in NOLA, and 3 - Within the next 7 days provide a written update as to Dr. Belton 
will conduct the process.   

Mr. John Barthelemy made a new motion to include the three parameters and Mrs. Arlanda 
Williams second the motion.  Motion approved.   

Q. Request Approval of Use Agreement between Southern University and A&M 
College and Baton Rouge Student Housing, LLC (SUBR) 

Chairman Atty Rutledge asked Dr. Belton to discuss Item 5Q.  Dr. Belton introduced Atty 
Jeremy Gathe the new Asst General Counsel and asked that he give information on the Use 
Agreement.   
Atty Gathe mentioned “this was an agreement between Southern University A&M College 
and Baton Rouge Student Housing, LLC and the agreement will allow the Palisades 
Apartments located on the corner of Harding and Scenic to use its affiliation with Southern 
University in its new company name.  He included the complete agreement in the board 
packet for the boards review.  (See board packet for agreement) 
Chairman Atty Rutledge asked if there were any questions or comments. There were none.  
Chairman Atty Rutledge welcomed Atty Jeremy Gathe.   
Mr. John Barthelemy made a motion to approve action item 5Q and Mr. Richard Hilliard 
second the motion.  Motion Approved.  

 
R. Resolution 

Dr. Katara Williams, Chief of Staff read resolutions for the following: 
Martha Ellen Washington Belton 
Louis Clark Brock 
Ramona D Bynum 
Ke’Lin Deneen Dillard Family 
Noel Franklin 
William Henry “Poppa” Weston 
 
Atty Rutledge added Michael Guess – a graduate of Southern University.  
 
Samuel Tolbert added Ms. Mary Ella Fondel Semien – The aunt of Board Member 
Raymond Fondel – Co founder of Semien-Lewis Mortuary, LLC in Jennings, LA 
 
Ann Smith added Mary Ann Gordon Harrell – from Amite, LA; graduate of SUBR  
and SUNO.  
 
Upon motion from Mrs. Ann Smith to approve the read resolutions with the 
additions and Rev. Samuel Tolbert second the motion.   Motion Approved. 
 
 

 Agenda Item 6:  INFORMATIONAL ITEMS: 



9 | P a g e  
 

  

A. Fall 2020 Enrollment Update by Campus 
 
Chairman Rutledge asked Dr. Belton to discuss the Fall 2020 Enrollment.  Dr. 
Belton mentioned before the update by campus he wanted to inform everyone 
that he and Mr. McClinton presented the enrollment at the Board of Regents 
Meeting on last week and he ask that everyone check out comments.  Dr. Belton 
turned the enrollment update over to Dr. Appeaning.   Dr. Appeaning mentioned 
he will defer to each chancellor to update on their respective campus and each 
campus had separate presentations that will be shared.    

1. Southern University at Baton Rouge 

The Southern University at Baton Rouge enrollment was shared for all 
board members to review.  Dr. Appeaning and Dr. Belton gave update. 
They mention the numbers grow toward the end of year.   Chairman 
Rutledge questioned the university online students.  He asked was the 
213 online students correct.  Dr. Appeaning said yes, that was the number 
of online students.  Chairman Rutledge shared his frustration as it relates 
to the online enrollment.  He mentioned how the enrollment has been low 
for the last two – three years and it was unacceptable.  Chairman 
Rutledge requested Dr. Belton to provide a written plan to the board in 
the next thirty (30) days.  The plan is to include how he and his team plan 
to improve the online program.   Dr. Belton agreed and will provide such 
a report as an agenda item in October.  He will provide a written report 
in advance to the meeting.   
 

2. Southern University Law Center 

The Southern University Law Center enrollment was shared for all board 
members to review.  Chancellor Pierre gave update.  He mentioned this 
Fall enrollment was the largest in history.  Chairman Rutledge 
congratulates Chancellor Pierre on his Fall enrollment.  Dr. Tarver asked 
Chancellor Pierre if he had a breakdown by law school program?  
Chancellor gave the breakdown for evening, part-time day, and full-time 
day students as well as the sessions that are remotely and in person.  
  

3. Southern University at Shreveport 

The Southern University at Shreveport enrollment was shared for all 
board members to review. Chancellor Ellis gave update.  Sam Gilliam 
asked about the number of students compared to the revenue.   He also 
questioned the dual enrollment as it relates to revenue.   He notices there 
is a short fall.  What is the plan to address the short fall?  Dr. Ellis said 
that “Dual enrollment population doesn’t generate revenue as others, it 
is less.  He agreed that SUSLA connect is down.  He said that as for 
SUSLA financials, they have plans for the coming year for the drop in 
enrollment – for academic year 



10 | P a g e  
 

Gilliam commented, “we are on un plotted ground – we will have to give 
them a mulligan – providing service to students – not reciprocating the 
revenue to run the campus - just his observations.”  No more comments 
or questions.  

4. Southern University at New Orleans 
The Southern University at New Orleans enrollment was shared for all 
board members to review. Dr. Ammons gave update.  Dr. Ammons 
commented on the financials.  He mentioned all that has happened since 
he was placed there in 2019.  There were financial problems then came 
COVID-19 which the Admissions office was impacted by through – 
sickness and death. He mentioned the next chancellor will have data to 
guide for growth.  There are still some major issues at the institution.  
Online program enrollment being one of them.   There will be an 8 -week 
short semester which anticipate will increase enrollment – in October.  
Mrs. Ann Smith mentioned she notice that the high school dual 
enrollment is keeping SUNO up at this point?  Discuss funding and 
online classes.  Dr. Ammons said there was one online program, and he 
gave a detailed explanation on the budget for funding available and not 
available and when they release additional funding if needed based on 
paid students.  Mrs. Smith thanked him for his explanation. 
Dr. Tarver gave history on the successful program, online museum 
studying program.  He mentioned other campuses has both graduate and 
undergraduate program. There are professional certificated programs 
which generate income for institution.   Dr. Ammons said he had a 
Meeting with faculty on yesterday to discuss additional offerings at the 
institutions in area of certifications – programs like online – where 
professionals can take advantages of the programs.   Mrs. Smith asked 
how many students in undergraduate for museum study, Dr. Ammons 
said he will have to get back with board on number.  Mr. Gilliam 
congratulated Dr Ammons and SUNO on SACSCOC.  Ammons said he 
had a village to assist and execute.  Thanked the board for their support.  
It was mentioned that as for the Online programs, the board would like 
for SUNO to be included in the report from Dr. Belton.  How will he 
improve the online program at SUNO?  Chairman Rutledge agreed.   

 

B.  Interim Financial Reports (SUS) 

The Financial report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021 as of August 31, 2020 was 
provided by Mr. McClinton for all campuses. He mentioned there the detail information is 
provided in the board packet but gave a summary of each campus.   
 
SUS – report does not reflect what the registration revenue is.  Campuses has been still 
registering kids.  Sept 30 – there will be a more complete report   

SUBR and SULC – both are within their revenue target 



11 | P a g e  
 

SUNO – there is a contingency set aside and they have a plan as to how they will address 
their shortfall.  Next month report will provide a more accurate report with real income 

Mr. McClinton asked if there were any questions? 

There were no questions or comments 

     

C.  Medical Marijuana Update 

Chancellor Orlando McMeans mentioned that Dr. Janna Snowden will give update.  
Dr. Snowden thanked the alumni and stake holder for their support. She mentioned 
there has been an increase and demand for product since the launch. She gave details 
of the products that were launched and the products that are in the developing phase.   

Dr. Snowden informed everyone that due to advertising restrictions, she cannot 
provide any information on the University website, therefore, the Pharmacy’s where 
products are sold will be located on SUAREC website 

She asked if there were any questions.  

There were No questions or comments 

 

D.  Facilities Planning Project Updates (SUS)                                                                            

Public Comments: 
Name: Dr. Mostafa Elaasar 
Email Address: melaasar@suno.edu 
Department: Natural Sciences 
Summary of Public Comment: What is the status of the built out at  Natural Science Building at SUNO? 
The Physics lab and the research labs do not have enough internet connections. We have requested more 
connections. 

 
Mr. Eli Guillory acknowledge the board and he addressed the public comment by mentioning that 
building was not a part of the build out program – as for the internet connections, please contact 
IT communication – Mr. Derrick James.  

 

Mr. Eli Guillory gave a detailed update on all projects for all the campuses. (all 
projects displayed on handout which is included in packet) 

There were no questions or comments.   

Chairman Rutledge thanked Mr. Guillory for the updated report.   

  

  

Agenda Item 7:  OTHER BUSINESS 

mailto:melaasar@suno.edu


12 | P a g e  
 

Chancellor Ellis wanted to inform everyone that SUSLA will be hosting SACSCOC next 
month. 
Chairman Rutledge informed the board members that “the October board meeting will be a 
in person meeting, he is requesting everyone to prepare for the in-person October meeting.  
Let him know if there are any questions or concerns.” 

He also mentioned “the Evaluations has been pushed back for chancellors/president – the 
process is under way – should be receiving email next week in reference to the evaluation 
instrument for president/ chancellor – the evaluations will be discussed at the October 
meeting. May have to separate and discuss in the October and November meetings. “ 

Chairman Rutledge asked if there were any questions.  There were none.  He requested a 
motion to adjourn. 

 
Agenda Item 8:  ADJOURNMENT 

 
Rev. Samuel Tolbert made a motion to adjourn, Mr. John Barthelemy second the motion. 
Motion passed.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



































 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN THE 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY LAW CENTER 
AND THE 

NATIONAL WILDLIFE FEDERATION 
 

This is a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between the Southern University Law Center 
(SULC) and the National Wildlife Federation (“NWF”) to carry out a fisheries outreach, education 
and support project relative to Louisiana’s alternative oyster culture regulatory and permitting 
regime. 
 

1. Background 
 
Key legislative strides and multi-sector investments in our nation’s oyster resources catalyzed the creation 
of oyster cage farming industries in coastal states, including Louisiana, Texas, Mississippi, Alabama and 
Florida. Since the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in 2010, especially, oyster cage farming in the Gulf has been 
a quickly emerging industry as it has proven success in rendering multiple benefits, including creation of 
jobs and opportunities for coastal families and augmentation of wild oyster reef production, which have 
been in decline for decades due to various natural and man-made stressors. The value of the oyster farming 
industry is growing. In 2019, Gulf oyster farmers generated $5 million in revenue based on conservative 
estimates.1 
 
Like neighboring Gulf states, Louisiana’s oyster farming industry, formally known as alternative oyster 
culture (“AOC”) has great potential and participant interest is growing. But continued investments are 
necessary to fully unlock industry potential and ensure that Louisiana’s industry growth keeps pace with 
that of neighboring Gulf states. That includes addressing policy needs and barriers to industry entry, 
including lack of industry education, training and technical assistance; including regulatory and permitting 
support.2  
 
Complexities in the AOC regulatory and permitting process is often cited by interested fishermen as a top 
deterrent to industry pursuit - right in line with the need for general education, training and technical 
assistance opportunities. The AOC regulatory and permitting process is often described as daunting, 
intimidating, costly and, in some instances, impossible to navigate without support from private sector 
professionals. 
 
NWF, as a member of RESTORE, will establish a fisheries outreach, education and support project (“the 
project”) to tackle aspects of challenges (1) and (2). The project strives to educate communities and 
support fishermen through the AOC regulatory and permitting process to build confidence and increase 
likelihood of business success and cultivate fishermen and community leaders who can transfer AOC 
regulatory and permitting knowledge to peers. The project will accomplish this by:  
 

• Developing a comprehensive guide that details Louisiana’s current AOC regulatory and permitting 
process. 

• Offering classroom styled and/or one-one educational opportunities for interested fishermen to 
learn the AOC regulatory and permitting process in AOC-targeted locations across coastal 
Louisiana. 

 
1 https://www.houmatoday.com/news/20191224/why-your-next-oyster-could-come-from-cage. 
2 https://www.daturesearch.com/wp-content/uploads/Datu-Oyster-Report_Final__5_21_15.pdf. 

https://agrilifetoday.tamu.edu/2020/10/01/texas-oyster-farming-outlook-good-for-2021-and-beyond/
https://dmr.ms.gov/oboa-training-program/
https://alaquaculture.com/
https://shellfish.ifas.ufl.edu/oyster-culture-overview/
https://www.daturesearch.com/wp-content/uploads/Datu-Oyster-Report_Final__5_21_15.pdf


 

2 
 

• Assisting eligible fishermen through the pre-AOC permitting process and AOC permit application 
process by ensuring completion and submission of application to the Louisiana Department of 
Wildlife and Fisheries (LDWF) and other relevant permitting authorities. 

 
NWF recognizes that the culture of coastal Louisiana is inherently tied to coastal fishing communities that 
are on the front lines of land loss and climate change. NWF further recognizes that the growth of a 
successful AOC industry will serve as a key tool in supporting the long-term health and sustainability of 
Louisiana’s commercial oyster industry and coastal communities. That is, overall success of the industry 
hinges on the ability to expand the AOC industry in a just, inclusive and equitable manner that creates 
opportunities for all. 
 
The SULC has been providing legal education for more than seventy (70) years and is the alma mater of 
many of Louisiana’s premier jurists. Since inception, the SULC has maintained a reputation for balancing 
high standards with access and opportunity. The quest for academic excellence is shaped by a desire to 
educate lawyers who foster a commitment to important ideals of social justice and public service. The 
SULC offers a unique opportunity for students to receive a rigorous education in the context of a respectful, 
caring and committed community of faculty and staff.  
 
Therefore, recognizing the reciprocal benefits that collaboration provides, NWF and the SULC hereby enter 
into this MOU to enhance practical training opportunities for SULC students. 
 

2. NWF Deliverables 
 

a. Offer a one-day seminar on Louisiana’s statutory, regulatory and permitting structures 
relative to coastal zone uses and AOC to SULC clinic students and SULC alumni recently 
admitted to the Louisiana State Bar Association by waiver. 
 

3. SULC Deliverables 
 

a. In collaboration with NWF, as a member of RESTORE, host a seminar on Louisiana’s 
statutory, regulatory and permitting structures relative to AOC.  

b. Identify and engage SULC students interested in related coastal law, environmental and/or 
administrative career to support project. 

c. Ensure robust student participation for field-work each month throughout the duration of 
the project. 
 

NWF and the SULC hereby agree to use their best efforts to ensure the success of this MOU. The MOU 
will become final once it is approved by the Southern University System Board of Supervisors (“the 
Board”) and executed by authorized representatives of NWF and SULC. 
 
The term of this agreement will be for one-year with the option to renew for an additional number of years 
to be decided and approved by NWF and the Board. This agreement and its implementation will be reviewed 
during the pendency of its term and during any subsequent renewed additional years. Both parties have the 
right to terminate this agreement for convenience upon providing ninety (90) days written notice to the 
other party.  
 
Signed this _____ day of October, 2020, by John K Pierre, Chancellor of the Southern University Law 
Center and Faye Matthews, Legal Policy Advisor for the National Wildlife Federation. 
 
 



 

3 
 

_____________________________________      ______________________________________ 
John K. Pierre, Chancellor                                      Faye Matthews, Legal Policy Advisor 
Southern University Law Center                            National Wildlife Federation 
 





CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 1 of 11 
 

COOPERATIVE ENDEAVOR AGREEMENT 
between and among  

THE STATE OF LOUISIANA 
through  

THE LOUISIANA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND DEVELOPMENT  
and the 

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY 
 

 Letting / Bidding and Construction of Information Center 
 

State Project Number H.008415 
 
 
This COOPERATIVE ENDEAVOR AGREEMENT, (“Agreement”) is made and entered into 
this ________ day of ____________, 2020 (“Effective Date”), in triplicate originals, by and 
between the State of Louisiana through the Louisiana Department of Transportation and 
Development (“DOTD”) and Southern University (“SU”), represented herein by Dr. Ray L. Belton, 
its President-Chancellor, duly authorized to act.  DOTD and SU may be referred to hereinafter as 
“PARTY”, individually and “PARTIES”, collectively. 
 
WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 14(C) of the Constitution of the State of Louisiana 
provides that “For a public purpose, the state and its political subdivisions may engage in 
cooperative endeavors with each other, with the United States or its agencies, or with any public 
or private association, corporation, or individual”; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to H.R. 2400 (P.L. 106-178) the Transportation Equity Act for the 

21st Century (TEA 21), signed by the President on June 9, 1998, DOTD was originally awarded 
Two Million Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,700,000) of federal funds with matching funds 
in the amount of Three Hundred Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($315,000) (Priority 2 of Capital Outlay 
Act No. 29 of 1998) payable from General Obligation Bonds for the expansion of Harding 
Boulevard from Scenic Highway to the Mississippi River in East Baton Rouge Parish and for the 
design and construction of an Information Center located on the campus of Southern University in 
East Baton Rouge Parish, Louisiana; and 

 
WHEREAS, upon completion of the Harding Boulevard Expansion, approximately Six 

Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($600,000) of the Two Million Seven Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($2,700,000) in Federal Aid funds was available for the Project, a portion of which was 
utilized for pre-construction services for the Information Center; and 
 

WHEREAS, a portion of originally available funds have been expended for pre-
construction services for the Project, including plan development, design revisions, topographic 
survey, and environmental services; and 

 

 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 2 of 11 
 

WHEREAS, Four Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Four Hundred Ten and 17/100 Dollars 
($488,410.17) in Federal Aid funds are now available for the Project and may be used to pay up 
to eighty (80) percent of construction-related costs and 

 
WHEREAS, Two Million Seventy-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($2,075,000.00) in 

P1 State Bond funds are now available for construction-related services for the Project; and 
  

WHEREAS, SU secured funding for the completion of the Information Center in the 
amount of Three Million Three Hundred Ninety Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Four 05/100 
Dollars (3,390,994.05) for the Project, of which Three Million Forty-Nine Thousand Twelve and 
80/100 Dollars (3,049,012.80) remains available for the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, total funds in the amount of Five Million Six Hundred Twelve Thousand 
Four Hundred Twenty-Two and 97/100 Dollars ($5,612,422.97) are currently available for the 
Project. 

 
WHEREAS, DOTD desires to cooperate with SU in implementation of the Project as 

hereinafter provided; and 
 

WHEREAS, each PARTY has a reasonable expectation of receiving a mutual benefit or 
value for performance of its respective responsibilities as provided for in this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the transfer or expenditure of public funds as contemplated herein is not a 

gratuitous donation; and 
 

WHEREAS, the undersigned PARTIES to this Agreement wish to cooperate with each 
other to the extent committed herein; and   

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual dependent covenants 

herein contained, the PARTIES hereto agree as follows:  
 

ARTICLE I 
SCOPE AND PURPOSE 

 
1.1 The Recitals set forth above are hereby incorporated herein and expressly made a part of 
this Agreement. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this Agreement is to delineate responsibilities and obligations between the 
PARTIES as it relates to design, letting/bidding, construction, inspection, and oversight of the 
project herein described. 
  



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 3 of 11 
 

ARTICLE II 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
The improvement to be undertaken under State Project Number H.008415 (“Project”) will 

consist of the design and construction of an Information Center to be located on the campus of 
Southern University in the Parish of East Baton Rouge, Louisiana. 
 

ARTICLE III 
FUNDING 

 
3.1 DOTD is administering P1 State Bond funds in the amount of Two Million Seventy-Five 
Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($2,075,000.00) to be matched with SU Self-Generated funds in the 
amount of Three Million Forty-Nine Thousand Twelve and 80/100 Dollars ($3,049,012.80), and 
remaining Federal Aid funds in the amount of Four Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Four Hundred 
Ten and 17/100 Dollars ($488,410.17). 
 
3.2 Total funds in the amount of Five Million Six Hundred Twelve Thousand Four Hundred 
Twenty-Two and 97/100 Dollars ($5,612,422.97) are currently available for the Project.  A 
summary of funding for the Project is attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, and incorporated herein by 
reference. 
 
3.3 Except for services hereinafter specifically listed to be furnished at DOTD’s expense, SU 
agrees to pay all costs associated with this Project over and above any State Bond funds or Federal 
Aid funds. 
 
3.4 SU reserves the right to incorporate items of work into the construction contract that are 
otherwise not eligible for Federal Aid participation if it so desires, and at its own cost. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
CONSULTANT SERVICES 

 
4.1 DOTD will assist SU in securing architectural services for the design and oversight of the 
Project.  The selection of contractor(s) for said services shall be in compliance with LSA-R.S. 
38:2311, et seq. and all other applicable laws. 
 
4.2 Federal authorization requires that the proposed Information Center be evaluated in 
accordance with National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA).  DOTD will prepare the NEPA 
environmental document and submit it to the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) for 
approval.  The document will be written in accordance with the current applicable FHWA 
Technical Advisory addressing potential Social, Environmental, and Economic impacts.  SU will 
provide DOTD the necessary information and data to complete the NEPA requirements and meet 
other federal laws, such as Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA).  SU 
will assist DOTD with public involvement and will follow through on commitments and mitigation 
requirements. 
 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 4 of 11 
 

ARTICLE V 
BIDS / CONSTRUCTION 

 
5.1 DOTD shall prepare the bid proposal, advertise for and receive bids for the Project, and 
shall award the contract to the lowest responsible bidder, in accordance with state law. 
 
5.2 SU shall enter into a contract with the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, and shall 
manage construction of this Project in accordance with the design and technical specifications. 
 
5.3 DOTD shall provide AASHTOWare technical assistance to the Project designer. 
 
5.4 DOTD shall confirm that plans and specifications prepared by the designer meet all 
applicable federal standards.  However, DOTD shall not be responsible to provide oversight or 
inspection services during construction of the Project, in accordance with its standard 
procedures. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
OWNERSHIP OF PROJECT 

 
6.1 SU shall maintain ownership of and responsibility for both the Project and the Project site 
throughout the design and construction of the Project, and shall be responsible for operation and 
maintenance of the Information Center upon its completion and Final Acceptance. 
 
6.2 Nothing in the Agreement shall be construed to create or vest in DOTD any ownership, 
operation, or maintenance responsibilities for the Project or Project site, either during its design 
and construction, or after its completion. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
RECORD KEEPING 

 
7.1 The PARTIES shall maintain all documents, papers, file books, accounting records, 
appropriate financial records and other evidence related to costs incurred relative to this 
Agreement, for a period of five (5) years following the final Funds transfer.   
 
7.2 The PARTIES hereby agree that the Legislative Auditor of the State of Louisiana and/or 
the Office of the Governor, Division of Administration auditors shall have the option of auditing 
all accounts of the PARTIES hereto that relate to this Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the Effective Date of this Agreement.  DOTD shall be audited in accordance with La. R.S. 
24:513. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
TERM/CANCELLATION 

 
8.1 The terms of this Agreement shall be effective from the date of full execution by the 
PARTIES hereto and shall be binding upon the PARTIES until all obligations have been satisfied 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 5 of 11 
 
and all payments due hereunder has been made, unless terminated earlier as provided in this 
Article.  Upon termination for any reason, the terms of Article XIII shall survive. 
 
 
8.2  Termination for Convenience 
 

8.2.1 DOTD may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) days’ written notice 
 thereof to SU, in the manner provided in Paragraph 8.3.1 hereinbelow. 

8.2.2 This Agreement may be terminated by mutual consent, reduced to writing and duly 
executed by both PARTIES. 

8.3 Termination for Cause   
 
 8.3.1 DOTD may terminate this Agreement for cause based upon the failure of SU to 

comply with its material obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that DOTD 
shall first provide SU written notice specifying the failure.  If within thirty (30) days after 
receipt of such notice, SU has not either corrected such failure, or, in the event it cannot be 
corrected within thirty (30) days, begun in good faith to correct said failure and thereafter 
proceeded diligently to complete such correction, then DOTD may, at its option, place SU 
in default and this Agreement shall terminate on the date specified in such notice. 

 
 8.3.2  SU may exercise any rights available to it under Louisiana law to terminate for 

cause upon the failure of DOTD to comply with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement; provided, however, that SU shall first provide DOTD with written notice 
specifying such failure.  If within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice, DOTD has 
not either corrected such failure, or, in the event it cannot be corrected within thirty (30) 
days, begun in good faith to correct said failure and thereafter proceeded diligently to 
complete such correction, then SU may, at its option, place DOTD in default and the 
Agreement shall terminate on the date specified in such notice. 

 
8.3.3 This Agreement may be terminated by DOTD should this Agreement be 
determined to be illegal or the determination be made by DOTD or the State of Louisiana 
that the Project should be delayed. 

 8.3.4 In the event of default by either party, DOTD and SU shall have all rights granted 
by the general laws of the State of Louisiana. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

AMENDMENTS/MODIFICATIONS 
 
9.1 This Agreement may be amended or modified at any time by mutual consent of the 
PARTIES, provided, however, that any modification, amendment, alteration, variation, or waiver 
of any provision(s) of this Agreement shall be valid only when it has been reduced to writing and 
executed by both PARTIES. 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 6 of 11 
 

ARTICLE X 
SEVERABILITY 

 
If any term, covenant, condition, or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof 

to any person or circumstance shall, at any time or to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Agreement or the application of such term, covenant, condition or provision to 
persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not 
be affected thereby, and each term, covenant, condition, and provision of this Agreement shall be 
valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 
ARTICLE XI 

ASSIGNMENT 
 

No PARTY may assign any interest in this Agreement by assignment, transfer, or novation, 
without prior written consent of the other PARTY hereto. 

 
ARTICLE XII 

FISCAL FUNDING 
 

The continuation of this Agreement is contingent upon the appropriation of funds to fulfill 
the requirements of the Projects by the legislature and the approval of the Louisiana State Bond 
Commission for an appropriation of the amount of funding appropriated to DOTD for the Project 
for the then current fiscal year, if applicable. If the legislature fails to appropriate sufficient monies 
to provide for the continuation of the Projects, or if such appropriation is reduced by the veto of 
the Governor or by any means provided in the appropriations act to prevent the total appropriation 
for the year from exceeding revenues for that year, or for any other lawful purpose, or if any capital 
outlay appropriation for the Projects is not approved in full by the Louisiana State Bond 
Commission in accordance with applicable law, and the effect of such reduction or failure to 
approve is to provide insufficient monies for the continuation of the Projects, this Agreement shall 
terminate on the date of the beginning of the first fiscal year for which funds are not appropriated.   

 
ARTICLE XIII 

INDEMNIFICATION/INSURANCE 
 
13.1 The PARTIES hereto shall indemnify and save harmless one another against any and all 
claims, losses, liabilities, demands, suits, causes of action, damages, and judgments of sums of 
money growing out of, resulting from, or by reason of any act or omission of its own or of its 
agents, servants, independent contractors, or employees while engaged in, about, or in connection 
with the discharge or performance of the terms of this Agreement or in connection with the services 
required or performed by it or resulting from the ownership, possession or control of the Work. 
 
13.2 Nothing herein is intended, nor shall be deemed to create a third party beneficiary to or for 
any obligation by any PARTY hereto herein or to authorize any third person to have any action 
against any PARTY hereto arising out of this Agreement.   
 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 7 of 11 
 
13.3 SU is the owner of the Project and shall seek no claim or indemnity against DOTD related 
to liability which may arise from the design, construction and maintenance of the Project, or for 
the operation, control, or maintenance of the facilities constructed or improved thereunder. 

 
ARTICLE XIV 

DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE 
 
14.1 The PARTIES agree to abide by the requirements of the following as applicable: Titles VI 
and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the Equal Opportunity Act of 1972, as 
amended; Federal Executive Order 11246, as amended; the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended; the Vietnam Era Veteran's Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974; Title IX of the 
Education Amendments of 1972; the Age Discrimination Act of 1975; the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, and Title II of the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination 
Act of 2008. 
  
14.2 The PARTIES agree not to discriminate in employment practices, and shall render services 
under this Agreement without regard to race, color, age, religion, gender, national origin, veteran 
status, genetic information, political affiliation, or disabilities. 

 
14.3 Any act of discrimination committed by any PARTY, or failure to comply with these 
statutory obligations, when applicable, shall be grounds for termination of this Agreement by either 
PARTY. 

 
ARTICLE XV 

CONTROLLING LAW, LEGAL COMPLIANCE AND VENUE 
 
15.1 The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Agreement shall be controlled by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Louisiana.  
 
15.2 The PARTIES shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and 
regulations, including, specifically, the Louisiana Code of Government Ethics (La R.S. 42:1101, 
et seq.) in carrying out the provisions of this Agreement.  
 
15.3  The exclusive venue for any suit arising out of this Agreement shall be in the Nineteenth 
Judicial District Court for the Parish of East Baton Rouge, State of Louisiana. 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

16.1 Employment of SU Personnel –  DOTD certifies that it has not employed and will not 
employ any person to engage in the performance of this Agreement who is, presently, or at the 
time of such employment, an employee of SU. 

16.2 Covenant against Contingent Fees – DOTD warrants that it has not employed or retained 
any entity or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for DOTD, to solicit or secure 



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 8 of 11 
 
this Agreement, and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any entity or person, other than a bona 
fide employee working solely for DOTD any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or 
any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. 
For breach or violation of this warranty, SU shall have the right to annul this Agreement without 
liability or, in SU discretion, to deduct from the contract price or consideration, or otherwise 
recover the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee. 
 
16.3 Notices – All notices or correspondence required or permitted under this Agreement must 
be in writing and delivered by mail (postage prepaid) or by hand delivery to the address of the 
receiving PARTY set out below.  Notices sent by email are ineffective, unless otherwise agreed to 
by the PARTIES.   Notices are effective when received by the recipient during the recipient’s 
regular business hours.  Notices which do not comply with the requirements of this Agreement are 
ineffective, and do not impart actual or any other kind of notice. 
 
For Southern University: 

 
President-Chancellor 
4th Floor J.S. Clark Administration Building 
Baton Rouge, LA 70813  
 
Phone: 225-771-4680 

 
 

For DOTD: 
 
Consultant Contracts Services
P.O. Box 94245 
Baton Rouge, LA 70804-9245 
 
Phone: (225) 379-1471 
 
 
16.4 Relationship of Parties – The PARTIES hereto are independent, and no partnership, joint 
venture or agency relationship will be deemed to be formed under this Agreement.  Neither 
PARTY shall have the right, power, or authority to in any way bind the other to any contract or 
other obligation, other than those specifically set forth in this Agreement. 
 
16.5 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which 
together will be considered one and the same agreement. 
 
  



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 9 of 11 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
PROVISION REQUIRED BY LAW DEEMED INSERTED 

 
Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be inserted in this Agreement 

shall be deemed to be inserted herein, and the agreement shall be read and enforced as though it 
were included herein, and if through mistake or otherwise, any such provision is not inserted, or is 
not correctly inserted, then upon the application of either Party, the agreement shall forthwith be 
amended to make such insertion or correction. 

 
ARTICLE XVIII 

VENUE 
 
The exclusive venue for any suit arising out of this Agreement shall be in the Nineteenth Judicial 
District Court for the Parish of East Baton Rouge, State of Louisiana. 

 
 

 
  



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 10 of 11 
 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 
Department of Transportation 

and Development 

Shawn D. Wilson, Ph.D. 
Secretary 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed by their 
respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first above written. 

 
WITNESSES:        SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY 
 
_________________________   By:  ________________________________ 
Witness          
           Dr. Ray L. Belton 
                    President-Chancellor 
_________________________ 
Witness 
 
 
 
     
  
WITNESSES:  
 
_________________________   By: ________________________________ 
Witness     
 
 
_________________________  
Witness 
 

   RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 
 
 

  BY: ________________________________ 
 
 
 

  



CEA: DOTD – Southern University 
State Project No. H.008415 
Southern University Information Center 
Page 11 of 11 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SOURCES OF FUNDING 

 

 

 
 May be utilized to pay 80% of construction-related costs up to $488,410.17. 

SOURCE ORIGINALLY 
AVAILABLE 

EXPENDED TO 
DATE REMAINING 

Federal Aid $600,000.00 $111,589.83 $488,410.17 

SU Self-
Generated $3,390,994.05 $341,981.25 $3,049,012.80 

P1 State Bond $2,075,000.00 — $2,075,000.00 

    

  TOTAL $5,612,422.97 













Overview of CEA 
The transaction would be effectuated by the Board of Supervisors of the Southern University and 
A&M College System (“Southern”) election to “opt in” to an existing Cooperative Endeavor 
Agreement between the State of Louisiana (the “State”) and LA Energy Partners, LLC (“LAEP”) 
and would also include the Southern University System Foundation (the “Foundation”). 
 
A. Southern will grant the Foundation an exclusive leasehold interest over the central energy 

plant located on the Campus (the “Plant”) and the assets located therein (“Covered 
Assets”). 

B. The Foundation will grant BRUEH an exclusive subleasehold interest over the Plant and 
Covered Assets, so that BRUEH can utilize the Covered Assets to provide thermal energy 
to buildings located on the Campus (“Campus Buildings”) and certain third party off-
takers. 

C. Term of thirty (30) years (the “Term”). 
D. The consideration payable by Special Purpose Entity (SPE) for such subleasehold interest 

will be: 
i. Upfront, prepaid rent to Foundation in the amount of $4,909,854 (the “Prepaid 

Rent”); 
ii. Design, construction, installation and financing of energy optimization 

improvements to the Campus Buildings (“Facility Optimization Services”) 
during first two years of term valued at $8,979,863 (the “FOSA Amount”); 

iii. Design, construction, installation and financing of improvements to the 
Covered Assets (“Plant Improvements”) deemed necessary or beneficial in 
furtherance of operating the Plant and providing thermal energy to Southern 
(e.g., due to material changes at the campus) and third party off-takers during 
the first two years of the term valued at $3,463,780 (the “Plant Improvement 
Amount”); 

iv. Operation and maintenance services to the Covered Assets (“O&M Services”); 
and 

v. Provision of thermal energy to the Campus Buildings (“Thermal Services”). 
E. Definitive Transaction Documents: 

i. Phase [#] Adoption Agreement; 
ii. Lease Agreement; 

iii. Sublease Agreement; 
iv. Right of Use and Servitude Agreement; 
v. Facility Optimization Services Agreement; 

vi. Thermal Services Agreement; and 
vii. Labor Services Agreement. 

 



2

LA Energy Partners (LAEP)
• Venture between Bernhard and Johnson Controls Inc.

• Louisiana Companies Creating Louisiana Jobs

• Energy Efficiency and Sustainability Expertise

• +$55 Million Proven Annual Energy Savings for US 

Institutions of Higher Education

• JCI is a Fortune 500 Company (#67)

• 235 Years of Combined Energy Efficiency and 

Sustainability Experience

• Extensive Southern University Campus Experience



3Cooperative Endeavor Agreement (“CEA”)
• Parties are State of Louisiana and LA Energy 

Partners
• Transaction Documents

– Cooperative Endeavor Agreement
– Lease Agreement 
– Thermal Services Agreement
– Facility Optimization Services Agreement

• Competitively Procured by State of 
Louisiana through two (2) Requests for 
Information and a Solicitation for Offers Over a 
4-year Period

• Thoroughly reviewed by Office of State 
Buildings, Facility Planning & Control, Division of 
Administration, Attorney General, Legislative 
Staff, Governor’s Office, State Auditor, and Joint 
Legislative Committee on the Budget

• Phase I (OSB/Shaw) Summary:
– 20 Year Term
– Lease of Shaw Center Energy Plant
– $1.9M Rent 
– $25M Energy Efficiency & Deferred 

Maintenance Improvements in 31 State 
Buildings

– Sale of Chilled Water Thermal Services to 
Shaw Center and Third Party Off-Takers

– $18M Net Public Benefit
– Annual Net Public Benefit Assurance
– Master Cooperative Purchasing Provisions 

(“Opt-In”)



4

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY

• The original CEA allows SU to opt-in to this transaction.

‒ When the original CEA was signed, JLCB Chairman Cameron Henry stated that, “This is 
a very significant contract that’s before us. At the end of the day, you could have every 
state building, every university, every prison, every building the state touches under your 
umbrella.”

‒ Commissioner Jay Dardenne stated that “The CEA is designed to be a template to 
provide opt-in capabilities for other State Entities. Provides consistency and transparency 
on terms and pricing. Menu of services and pricing is an exhibit to the CEA that can 
be provided to Universities. The University of Louisiana System is already in 
discussions with the JV (in reference to LAEP) of their interest.”

Purpose of the LAEP CEA “Opt-In”



2017 2018

OCT. 4
Southern University 
issued RFP No. 10238 
Infrastructure Project

NOV. 17
Bernhard 
responded to 
the RFP 

FEB. 27
Bernhard interviewed with 
Southern University

MAR. 21
Southern University notified that 
Bernhard was selected to proceed 
to the next stage of the RFP 
process and to proceed with a 
Technical Energy Audit

MAR. 22
Bernhard presented 
preliminary findings to the 
Southern University Board 

APR. 23
Bernhard presented the Technical 
Energy Audit findings

NOV. 23
Southern University 
Board reviews updated 
proposal

SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY: PROJECT HISTORY

2019 2020

FEB. 5
Bernhard and Southern 
University finalize contract 
negotiations as part of the 
RFP Response

MAY 22
Southern University 
conducts a final review of 
Bernhard’s RFP response 
and final transaction 
documents

JUN. 25
Southern University 
elects to proceed with 
CEA opt-in arrangement

OCT. 1
AG opinion allowing 
Southern University 
opt-in approved

JUL. 20
LAEP and Southern 
University review scope of 
services offered and 
negotiate commercial terms

SEP. 27
LAEP closes CEA with the 
State of Louisiana which 
includes opt-in provisions 
for state supported entities

AUG. 20
LAEP finalizes commercial 
terms and begins contract 
negotiations per the State of 
Louisiana CEA

OCT. 16. 
LAEP and Southern 
University finalize 
contract terms

OCT. 23
Southern 
University 
presents LAEP
offer for board 
approval



6

• Provides $4.9 million in Prepaid Rent to Southern University at Closing.

• Includes $12.4 million in Plant and Building Efficiency Improvements.

• Guarantees in excess of $950k in Annual Utility Cost Savings.

• Transfers risk for Central Energy Plant O&M and premature equipment failures to LAEP.

• Provides approximately $39.7 million in Net Public Benefit to Southern University over 30 year 
term.

• Meets or Exceeds All LAEP CEA Requirements.

LAEP Offer for CEA Adoption



7Energy Optimization Services
AIR HANDLING UNIT (AHU) OPTIMIZATION

Upgrading controls to optimize temperature and 
static pressure delivery to each occupant space.

UPGRADE BAS
Replacing existing controls with new, DDC controls.  
A comprehensive control system upgrade allows for 

conversant control algorithms that allow the 
building to constantly adjust to variations in use.

RETRO-COMMISSIONING
Optimizing the HVAC system to current 

space uses and code guidance to provide 
optimal student comfort and safety, 
while optimizing energy consumption.

LED LIGHTING
Providing a substantial improvement to learning environment 

illumination and reduction in energy and maintenance cost through 
increased fixture efficiency and life-span.



8Energy Asset Improvements

COOLING TOWER VFDs
Increasing tower water system part-load 

efficiencies by maximizing condenser water flow 
rates while minimizing cooling tower fan energy, 

and lowering waste water drift.

STAFF TRAINING
Helping building and plant operators 

understand and optimize complex buildings 
systems to sustain operational excellence.

VARIABLE PRIMARY PUMPING
Eliminating waste over-pumping and increasing 

temperature control to maximize chiller efficiency 
during part-load conditions.  This includes the 

installation of dedicated chiller water pumps with 
variable frequency drives (VFDs) and conversion of 

3-way control valves to 2-way type.



9

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY

• Leverage Statewide Economy of 
Scale Pricing

• Allow for Extended Transaction 
Term Compared to Prior Offers

• Improve SU’s Learning 
Environment

• Improve and Sustain System 
Energy Efficiency

• Address Capital Renewal and 
Deferred Maintenance Backlog  

• Preserve State Funding of Capital 
Renewal and Deferred 
Maintenance  

• Improve Infrastructure Reliability 
and Resiliency 

• Reduce Utility Costs  

• Stabilize Operation and 
Maintenance Costs 

• Promote Local, Inclusive, and 
Diverse Workforce

• Enhance Student Engagement 
and Thermal Comfort

• Enhance Student, Staff, and Visitor 
Safety

• Promote Environmental 
Stewardship

• Reduce and Transfer Risk
• Capture Income Tax Incentives
• Avoid Adverse Tax Consequences 
• Preserve Debt Capacity for Core 

Mission Investments

• Preserve Resources and Political 
Capital for Core Mission

• Avoid Increase of Long Term 
Liabilities

• Provide Budget Certainty
• Yield Positive Credit Impact
• Provide Known Outcome at Expiry
• Incent Operator Performance
• Capture Benefit from Historically 

Low Treasury Rates and Lowest 
Cost of Capital

• Leverage Operating Budget 
Savings 

• Achieve Maximum Net Public 
Benefit

LAEP CEA Adoption Promotes SU 
Stakeholder Objectives



10

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY

Enhance Student Engagement
LAEP is working every day to recruit and retain the resources needed to sustain our growth.  A 
substantial portion of our current and future workforce need involves engineering, energy, 
information technology, business, legal, finance, and accounting knowledge and expertise.  
LAEP views its partnership with SU as an investment in its own future, and looks forward to 
working with SU leadership to enhance student engagement through: 

• Internships and Cooperative Employment Programs

• Plant and Facility Tours

• Presentations and Updates on Sustainability Progress

• Sponsored Research on Campus and in the Local Community

• Living Classrooms Focused on Experiential Learning



2020  

Second Special 

Session 

September 28 -

October 27 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

System presidents testifying 

before the Senate Education 

Committee on SB 45 

 

Legislative Update 
to the Board of Supervisors 
As of 10.7.2020 

Operational Autonomies 

HB 16 by Representative Zeringue and SB 32 by Senator Fields 

These bills reinstate, with limitations, the operational autonomies, including 
retention of funds, equipment disposal, procurement and risk management, for 
institutions that expired in June 2020. 
 

Management Boards 

SB 44 and SB 45 by Senator Fields 

These bills allow the governor to appoint a member to the management board of 
a postsecondary institution who is an alumnus of any of the institution’s 
campuses who resides out-of-state. 
 

TOPS 

SCR 3 by Senator Cathey 

Requests the Board of Regents to study allowing TOPS and GO Grant awards to be 
used for summer semester immediately following high school graduation. 

HB 40 by Garafolo 

Provides relative to qualifications for Taylor Opportunity Program for Students 
scholarships.  

 

 

 

 

Additional Bill Tracking — 
 

HB 16 by Rep. Frieman 

Provides relative to limitations of liability for public and 
non-public schools and postsecondary education during 
public health emergencies. 

 

HB 48 by Rep. Duplessis 

Requires that student identification cards issued by certain 
postsecondary education institutions meet certain 
requirements. 

 

HB 56 by Rep. Bagley 

Authorizes administration of medical marijuana to a 
student by a parent, guardian, or authorized school 
employee at a public school. 

Office of External Affairs 


	SUBR Online Board Presentation.pdf
	Southern University and A&M College
	Strategic Goals
	E-Learning Functional Responsibilities�
	Operations Model�Non-Integrated
	Academic Programs
	Academic Programs
	Enrollment Trends 2013-2020
	Fall 2020 Enrollment Demographics
	Marketing ��Recruitment��Retention
	Slide Number 10
	Plans for Growth
	Recommendations

	Bernhard Board Packet Info.pdf
	Slide Number 2
	Cooperative Endeavor Agreement (“CEA”)
	Slide Number 4
	SOUTHERN UNIVERSITY: PROJECT HISTORY
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10

	SULC Presentation for Board.pdf
	Southern University Law Center
	Southern University Law Center Supports Other Southern University On-Line Programs
	Challenges in Moving On-Line 
	SULC Can Create or Partner with Other Parts of Southern University for Certificates and Other Programs 

	SULC Enrollment Trend PowePoint Basic Slide.pdf
	Slide Number 2




